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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I
am pleased to present the results of the Company, and its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “Ming Hing”) for the year ended
31 March 2009.

During the year under review, Ming Hing placed significant efforts
in generating business in Hong Kong by actively tendering for
government projects. Concurrently, our prudent expansion strategy
allowed us to consolidate the Mainland China business.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year under review, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$660.9 million, representing an increase of 1.9% over last year
(2008: HK$648.5 million). Gross profit experienced a decline of
17.2% to HK$69.4 million compared with HK$83.8 million recorded
in FY2008. Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company
likewise dipped to HK$6.4 million, down 74.3%. Basic earnings
per share amounted to HK0.713 cents. No dividend has been
declared by the Company for year ended 31 March 2009.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Hong Kong Market

Possessing over 40 years of experience in Hong Kong’s water
supply services sector, our business in Hong Kong continued to
achieve stable growth. With the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) stepping up its implementation of the 10 large-
scale infrastructure projects as part of the 2008-09 Policy Address,
we have dedicated efforts to capitalise on this opportunity.
Furthermore, the Water Mains Replacement and Rehabilitation
Programme also offered immense prospects for the Group to
generate greater revenue. Accordingly, we actively submitted
tenders during the year and our reputation in the industry has
provided important leverage for winning several contracts.

660,900,000
1 .9%

648,500,000
83,800,000 17.2% 69,400,000

74.3% 6,400,000
0.713
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During the year under review, our Hong Kong operation generated
revenue from maintenance contracts of HK$522.6 million, down
11.2% year on year (2008: HK$588.2 million), accounting for
approximately 79.1% (2008: 90.7%) of the Group’s total revenue.
Despite a decline in revenue from maintenance contracts, which
was due to the completion of two projects in 2008, our Hong Kong
business is replenished by new contracts won for landslip
prevention, and water mains replacement and rehabilitation.

The two new landslip preventive measures works contracts won
from the Civil Engineering and Development Department (“CEDD”)
are as follows:

– 10 year extended LPM project, phase 8, package D – landslip
preventive works for slopes and retaining walls in Kowloon
and the New Territories (contract number: GE/2008/15)

– 10 year extended LPM project, phase 8, package E – landslip
preventive works for slopes in the New Territories and
Outlying Islands (contract number: GE/2008/08)

The combined value of the two contracts is approximately HK$120
million in total.

The two new water mains replacement and rehabilitation project
contracts won from the Water Supplies Department (“WSD”) are
as follows:

– Replacement and rehabilitation of water mains, stage 3 –
mains in East Kowloon (package A) (contract number: 7/WSD/
08)

– Replacement and rehabilitation of water mains, stage 3 –
mains on Hong Kong Island South and Outlying Islands
(contract number: 18/WSD/08)

The two contracts will cover about 150 kilometres of aged water
mains valued at HK$1 billion in total.

522,600,000
11.2% 588,200,000

79.1%
90.7%

D
  

GE/2008/15

E
  

GE/2008/08

120,000,000

  
7 /

WSD/08

  
18/

WSD/08

150
1,000,000,000
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69,400,000
83,800,000

10.5% 12.9%

10%
ERP

9,500,000 10,800,000

The Group did recorded a drop in gross profit to HK$69.4 million
(2008: HK$83.8 million) and gross margin declined to 10.5% (2008:
12.9%), mainly due to the increases in raw material and labour
costs. Specifically, pipes and fittings, asphalt, concrete, chemicals
and steel rose in cost by over 10% during the year. Thus, we have
commenced preparation for the implementation of an Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) system that will improve procurement,
ordering process, and inventory control. A department in China
has been established that allows us to directly source more raw
materials, parts and components. Since the beginning of 2009,
we have directly sourced various pipes and valves, and more items
will be directly procured from China to minimise costs.

Ming Hing received recognition for its professionalism and
expertise from several Government departments during the year.
The Geotechnical Engineering Office, the Civil Engineering and
Development Department of the HKSAR named Ming Hing “Best
Landslip Preventive Measures Contractor” for the second
consecutive year. We were one of the recipients of the
“Considerate Contractors Site Awards”, issued by the Development
Bureau. In addition, Ming Hing was awarded with the “Construction
Industry Safety Award Scheme – Meritorious Prize” and
“Occupational Health Award – Merit Award” from the Labour
Department and the Occupational Safety and Health Council
respectively.

The PRC Market

The acquisition of the Qingyuan water treatment plant was
completed in August 2008 and capital injected to this water
treatment plant up to the balance sheet date amounted to RMB9.5
million (equivalent to approximately HK$10.8 million). With the
industrial development in the area whereby water demand will be
increased drastically, we are confident that by improving efficiency
and better management of operating costs, the water treatment
plant will become profitable in the near future.
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128,000,000

Subsequent to this investment, we disposed of our water supply
plant in Ningxiang. In October 2008, we announced to dispose of
Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering (PRC) Limited, the entire
equity holder of Ming Hing Waterworks (Changsha) Company
Limited (“Ming Hing (Changsha)”), to China Water Affairs Group
Limited (“China Water”) (the “Disposal”). Ming Hing (Changsha)
has been principally providing water supply services in Ningxiang
County, Changsha City, Hunan Province. However, with local
authorities pushing for rapid water infrastructure development in
order to keep pace with extensive growth in the area, we felt that
the substantial investment required was not congruent with current
economic conditions. Seeking to mitigate our investment risk, we
subsequently approached China Water which agreed to acquire
the entire equity interest in Ming Hing (Changsha). The transaction
was completed on 31 December 2008, freeing us from potentially
heavy capital commitments. The management believes the
Disposal allows us to remain financially flexible and have the
liquidity to acquire more suitable water treatment plants in the
future. The consideration for disposing Ming Hing (Changsha) was
offset against the consideration for another transaction to
repurchase 128 million ordinary shares of the Company held by
China Water.

PROSPECTS

Hong Kong Market – A Steady Source of Income

A growing number of Hong Kong residents have expressed
eagerness for the Government to accelerate implementation of
the 10 large-scale infrastructure projects. As water service
engineering is a key element of infrastructure engineering works,
and we are among a select few that possess such experience in
Hong Kong, we are in an extremely strong position to benefit from
these projects. The Government’s Water Mains Replacement and
Rehabilitation Programme presents another important opportunity
for our Hong Kong operation, as our experience is substantial. We
are therefore optimistic that our tender submissions to the
Government will achieve positive results and the income derived
will support the development of our PRC business, thus spurring
further growth.
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40,000
3,500

Aside from our civil engineering business, we are currently in talks
with several material suppliers with the goal of becoming their
sole agent, distributing waterworks materials in Hong Kong and
the PRC. This venture can open new possibilities and income
streams as well as allow us to benefit from lower cost materials.

China Market – Long-term Growth Driver

Providing optimism for the Group’s long-term growth in China is
the PRC government’s National 11th Five-Year Plan, which alluded
to allocating considerable funds for environmental protection and
water conservation. Out of the RMB4 trillion stimulus package,
RMB350 billion will be spent for this purpose. In addition,
liberalisation of the water market and water price reforms create
fertile ground for quality water-service providers such as Ming Hing
to grow and flourish. With new policies on controlling water
pollution also being mandated, this will provide added incentive
for us to participate in water sewage projects. We have also lined
up partnership with a membrane expert company in Korea with a
view to introducing new technology and cost effective solutions
for sewage treatment in China, thus strengthening our competitive
advantage.

Since the global economic outlook remains unclear, we will adopt
a particularly cautious stance toward acquisitions. Discussions on
possible business development in the PRC will continue, and the
management will explore profitable investment opportunities to
maintain the Group’s sustained growth.

Possessing the highest level of competence in the water services
industry, we will leverage our expertise to enhance Ming Hing’s
presence in the PRC. We are convinced that the Mainland market
will provide a significant source of revenue in the long run and act
as catalyst for the Group’s future growth.
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Efforts to Control Costs and Maintain Margin

Looking forward, it is believed that commodity prices will continue
to increase steadily, placing pressure on the Group’s profit margins.
To alleviate this pressure, the management plans to employ a more
diverse range of suppliers and sub-contractors. Establishing a
material sourcing company in the PRC will also allow us to achieve
vertical integration, reduce procurement costs and create a new
source of income. Continuous control on staff costs will help
optimise our margin as well.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to
express my gratitude to the management and staff for their
diligence and dedication over the past year. With a comprehensive
strategy in place for enhancing efficiency, service quality and
competitiveness, we look forward to maintaining steady growth,
and delivering satisfactory returns for our shareholders.

YUEN Chow Ming

Chairman
17 July 2009
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, aged 72, is an executive Director, the
chairman and the founder of the Company and the Group.
Mr. YUEN and three other partners found Ming Hing Engineering
Company (the “Partnership”) in 1967. In January 1987, Mr. YUEN,
together with Mr. SO Yiu Cheung and two other partners,
established Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering Company Limited
and he was one of the founding directors. Mr. YUEN studied
engineering science at “ ” in the early 1960s
and has over 36 years’ experience in waterworks engineering, most
time of which were devoted to developing and managing the
Group’s waterworks projects. Mr. YUEN was appointed as an
executive Director on 29 October 2004. Mr. YUEN has been since
the inception of the business responsible for the marketing,
formulation of corporate strategies, business planning and overall
management of the Group. Mr. YUEN is the father of Mr. YUEN
Wai Keung.

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, aged 42, is an executive Director, the deputy
chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and is
responsible for the overall business management and corporate
development of the Group. Mr. YUEN graduated from the Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, University of London
with a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering in 1990.
Mr. YUEN also holds a master’s degree in business administration
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2000.
Mr. YUEN is a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
and a member of Institution of Mechanical Engineers (UK).
Mr. YUEN joined the Group in 1991 and has since then been heavily
involved in all aspects relating to the waterworks business of the
Group. He is a member of The 10th Committee of Changsha City
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. YUEN
became a director of Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering Company
Limited in 1996. Mr. YUEN is the son of Mr. YUEN Chow Ming.
Mr. YUEN was appointed as an executive Director on 2 June 2004.

72

42
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Mr. SO Yiu Cheung, aged 57, is an executive Director and the
deputy chairman and is responsible for the overall project
management of the Group. Mr. SO is also involved in the
formulation of corporate plans and strategies of the Group.
Mr. SO obtained his certificate in structural engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic in July 1973. Mr. SO is also an associate member
of the Institute of Plumbing in the UK. Mr. SO has over 32 years
experience in waterworks engineering. Mr. SO joined the Group
in 1985 as a partner to the Partnership and became one of the
founding partners of Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering Company
Limited in 1987. Mr. SO was appointed as an executive Director
on 29 October 2004.

Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, aged 41, is an executive Director, Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Mr. CHEUNG has over
15 years of experience in accounting and financial management.
Prior to taking up the above-mentioned posts of the Company, he
has been the chief financial officer of the China division of a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. CHEUNG holds a Master’s degree in Commerce
from the University of New South Wales, Australia. Mr. CHEUNG
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Australian Society of Certified Practicing
Accountants. Mr. CHEUNG was appointed as an executive Director
on 15 October 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor LEUNG Yee Tak ,  aged 60, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed on 11 November 2005.
Professor LEUNG holds a master’s degree of science, a doctorate
degree of science and a doctorate degree of philosophy from the
University of Aston in Birmingham in the UK. Professor LEUNG is
a fellow of the Royal Aeronautical Society, a fellow of the Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyor, and he is currently the Chair
Professor of the Department of Building and Construction of the
City University of Hong Kong.

57

41

60
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47

Sky
Holdings Group Limited

44

TAG Aviation Asia Limited
Flight Training Adelaide Pty Ltd.

Young Brothers Aviation Ltd.

41

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen, aged 47, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed on 20 February 2009.
Mr. LIAO has over 23 years experience in the trade and commerce
industry. Mr. LIAO is currently the general manager of the corporate
development division of Sky Holdings Group Limited. Mr. LIAO
holds a Joint-honors degree in Chemistry with Management
Studies from the University of London. Mr. LIAO returned back to
Hong Kong in 1985 and had held senior management positions in
both international and local listed and private companies since then.
Mr. LIAO also serves in various non-profit organizations and is the
member of Guangxi Qinzhou Chinese People’s Pol it ical
Consultative Conference, the Vice-President of Guangxi Youth
Entrepreneur Association, the Vice-Chairman of Guangxi Guilin
Youth Federation, the Executive Member of Guangxi Qinzhou
Overseas Friendship Association and the Committee Member of
Guangxi Youth Federation.

Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie, aged 44, is an independent
non-executive Director and was appointed on 15 October 2008.
Mr. WONG has over 15 years of experience in accounting and
financial management. Mr. WONG is currently a director of TAG
Aviation Asia Limited and a director of Flight Training Adelaide Pty
Ltd. Mr. WONG is also the chief financial officer of Young Brothers
Aviation Ltd., which is a company with global operation and whose
major business involves investment and management of aviation
related assets. Mr. WONG holds a Bachelor of business degree in
Accounting from Curtin University of Technology and a Bachelor’s
degree in Chinese Law from Tsinghua University. Mr. WONG is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. MA Ving Hoo, aged 41, is the Deputy General Manager (Hong
Kong Engineering) of the Group and is responsible for the
management of the Group’s projects. Mr. MA has about 19 years’
experience in the field of civil engineering. Mr. MA obtained a
higher diploma in Building from the City University of Hong Kong
in 1990 and a master’s degree of Business Administration from
the University of Hull, the United Kingdom in 1999 and a bachelor’s
degree of Science in Construction Engineering and Management
from the Queen’s University of Brighton, the United States in 2005.
Mr. MA is also the Chartered Member of Chartered Institute of
Building (MCIOB) and American Institute of Constructors (MAIC).
Mr. MA joined the Group in June 2005.
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57

58

56

Mr. LIU Hing Fook, aged 57, is the Deputy General Manager,
responsible for the management of the Group’s projects. Mr. LIU
holds a bachelor’s degree of Science in Civil Engineering from
London Thames Polytechnics in 1976, he has over 30 years of
management experience, with 17 years working with Gammon
Construction Ltd., managing large and technically complex
projects, covering all aspects of civil construction, such as Tai Po
Water Treatment, Western Harbour Crossing, Route 3 Country Park
Section, Mody Road Subway for KCRC and Hong Kong- Shenzhen
Western Corridor. Before joining us, Mr. LIU is working in the mega
project for Venetian Development in Macau. Mr. LIU joined the
Group in March 2009.

Mr. SO Sai Kwan, aged 58, is the Senior Project Manager of the
Group and is mainly responsible for the sourcing and management
of the waterworks projects in the Mainland China. Mr. SO holds a
master degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of
Manchester in UK and is member of the Institution of Mechanical
Engineers (UK) and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.
Mr. SO was a former senior electrical and mechanical engineer in
the WSD. Mr. SO was responsible for the administration of the
operational activities in the New Territories East Region. Mr. SO is
well experienced in the waterworks activities including the design,
operation and maintenance of waterworks installations, such as
water treatment plant and pumping station. Mr. SO retired from
WSD in 2006 and joined the Group in April 2007.

Mr. CHONG Leung Kit, aged 56, is the Site Agent of the Group
and is responsible for the management of water works
maintenance project at New Territories East. Mr. CHONG holds a
Bachelor’s degree of Science in Civil Engineering from the Chu
Hai College. Mr. CHONG has over thirty years project management
experience. Mr. CHONG worked for Gammon Construction Ltd.
since graduation from college and had participated several mega
construction projects, such as the foundation work of Taikoo Shing,
extension of Queen’s Mary Hospital, improvement works for Lung
Cheung Road & Ching Cheung Road. Mr. CHONG joined Ming Hing
Group in November 2004.
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34

39

34

31

Ms. FONG Man Yan, aged 34, is the Commercial and Quantity
Surveying Manager of the Group and is responsible for the
management of cost planning and quantity surveying works of
the Group. Ms. FONG holds a bachelor’s degree of Engineering in
Integrated Engineering with Industrial Management from the
University of Liverpool in the UK and a master’s degree of
Construction Project Management from the University of Hong
Kong. Ms. FONG has about ten years of quantity surveying
experience in the construction field. Ms. FONG joined the Group
in October 2002.

Dr. WONG Chun Hung, aged 39, is the Contract Manager of the
Group and is responsible for the project management of the Group.
Prior to joining the Group in December 1999, Dr. WONG taught in
the Department of Physics and Materials Science of the City
University of Hong Kong as a temporary lecturer during his post-
doctoral research in fluid dynamics and acoustics. Dr. WONG
obtained his bachelor’s degree in Engineering and doctorate degree
of Philosophy in Engineering from the University of Hong Kong in
1993 and 1998, respectively.

Mr. TAM Tsang Ngai, aged 34, is the Finance Manager of the
Group and responsible for the financial management of the Group.
Mr. TAM has over ten years of experience in the auditing and
accounting field. Mr. TAM holds a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. TAM is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the UK and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. TAM joined the Group
in October 2008.

Mr. WONG Wai Chun, Alex, aged 31, is the Finance Manager (PRC)
of the Group and is responsible for the management of the financial
works in the Mainland China. Mr. WONG has about seven years of
experience in the auditing and accounting field. Mr. WONG holds
a bachelor’s degree of Accounting and Finance from the University
of Glamorgon in UK. Mr. WONG is a member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the UK and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. WONG joined the
Group in November 2007.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of
the principal activities of each member of the Group are set forth
in note 16 to the financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of maintenance
and construction works on civil engineering contracts in respect
of waterworks engineering, road works and drainage and slope
upgrading for the public sector in Hong Kong, as well as the
provision of water supply services in Mainland China.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2009 and the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 41 to 139.

No dividend has been recommended by the Board for the year
ended 31 March 2009.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 140.

16

41 139

140
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2009 are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year ended 31 March 2009, together with the
reasons thereof, are set out in notes 26 and 27 respectively to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2009 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 28 to the
financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares of the Company on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

14

26 27

28
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year under review, the Company has repurchased its
own shares (the “Shares”) on the Stock Exchange as follows:

Number Highest Lowest

of Shares purchase price purchase price

Date repurchased per Share per Share Total price

HK$ HK$ HK$

10 April 2008 200,000 0.470 0.465 93,500
11 April 2008 200,000 0.480 0.480 96,000
14 April 2008 200,000 0.475 0.475 95,000
15 April 2008 200,000 0.440 0.440 88,000
16 April 2008 200,000 0.445 0.445 89,000
17 April 2008 200,000 0.465 0.465 93,000
18 April 2008 200,000 0.465 0.465 93,000
21 April 2008 200,000 0.460 0.460 92,000
22 April 2008 200,000 0.465 0.465 93,000

1,800,000 832,500

The repurchased Shares were subsequently cancelled by the
Company. The issued share capital of the Company was reduced
by the par value thereof. The premium paid for the repurchase of
Shares and the related expenses, in the amount of HK$750,000,
were charged to the share premium account.

The repurchase of Shares during the year was effected by the
Directors pursuant to the general mandate approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 23 August 2007, with a view to benefiting shareholders as a
whole by enhancing the net asset value per Share and earnings
per Share of the Group.

750,000
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

On 31 December 2008, the Company has repurchased
128,000,000 Shares from China Water Affairs Group Limited
(“China Water”) at the repurchase price of HK$0.42 per share
(the “Off-market Repurchase”) pursuant to the agreement
entered into between the Company and China Water on 18
September 2008. The aggregate amount of HK$53,760,000 for the
Off-market Repurchase was used to set off the consideration for
the disposal of certain subsidiaries of the Group (the “Disposal”)
as disclosed in connected transaction below. Details of the
agreement and Off-market Repurchase are set out in the circular
of the Company date 3 November 2008.

The repurchased 128,000,000 Shares were subsequently cancelled
by the Company. The issued share capital of the Company was
reduced by the par value thereof. The premium paid for the
repurchase of 128,000,000 Shares and the related expenses, in
the amount of HK$47,468,000, were charged to the share premium
account. The Off-market Repurchase was effected by the Directors
pursuant to the special resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 27 November 2008.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Shares
during the year ended 31 March 2009.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming (Chairman)
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung

(Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. SO Yiu Cheung (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis (Re-designated on 15 October 2008)

0.42 128,000,000

53,760,000

128,000,000

128,000,000
47,468,000
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors

Professor LEUNG Yee Tak
Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen

(Appointed on 20 February 2009)
Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie

(Appointed on 15 October 2008)
Ms. CHUNG Lai Kwok, Elaine

(Resigned on 1 January 2009)
Mr. SUN Bo Quan (Resigned on 1 April 2009)
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis (Re-designated as

an Executive Director on 15 October 2008)
Mr. CHENG Ka Ming, Martin (Appointed on 1 October 2008 and

resigned on 20 February 2009)

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. LIAO Cheung
Tin, Stephen and Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie, shall hold office
until the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,
shall offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles, Mr. YUEN Wai Keung,
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis and Professor LEUNG Yee Tak will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election. All the other
directors will continue in office.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Director, a confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

86(3)

87

3.13
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, Mr. SO Yiu Cheung and Mr. YUEN Wai
Keung, each of them has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 March 2009.
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing on
15 October 2008. Either the Company or the executive Director
may, after one year of the commencement date of their respective
contract, terminate the appointment of the executive Director by
giving to the other party not less than six months’ written notice
of termination or by payment in lieu of such notice.

Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen, an independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
on 20 February 2009 for a fixed term commencing on 20 February
2009 and ending on 31 January 2010 and may be terminated by
either party by giving one month’s written notice. Mr. WONG Lap
Shek, Eddie, an independent non-executive Director, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company on 26 September
2008 for a fixed term commencing on 15 October 2008 and ending
on 30 September 2009 and may be terminated by either party by
giving one month’s written notice. Mr. SUN Bo Quan, an
independent non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term commencing on
1 October 2008 and ending on 31 March 2009 and may be
terminated by either party by giving one month’s written notice.
For the rest of the independent non-executive Director, Professor
LEUNG Yee Tak has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of one year commencing on 1 November 2008
and may be terminated by either party by giving one month’s
written notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a contract of
service with the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries not determinable by the employing company within
one year without payment of compensation (except for statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

13
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 16 November 2005, Ming Hing Waterworks Engineering
Company Limited, as Lessee, and Grand Media Limited, as Lessor,
entered in to a lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”)
regarding the premises of Units 1809-1812, 18th Floor, Telford
House, No. 16 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Lease
Agreement was renewed on 5 March 2008 with identical terms
and conditions except for a lease term of from 1 April 2008 to
31 March 2011 at a monthly rental of HK$82,000. Mr. Yuen Chow
Ming, Mr. Yuen Wai Keung and Mr. So Yiu Cheung, all being
executive Directors of the Company, have equity interest of 34%,
33% and 33% respectively in Grand Media Limited. Therefore,
Grand Media Limited is an associate of the three Directors of the
Company and the renewal of the Lease Agreement amounted to
a continuing connected transaction exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors, such
transaction was entered into by the Group:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business;

(b) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to/from (as appropriate)
independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Please also refer to related party transactions for the year as set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 18 September 2008, the Group entered into an agreement
with China Water for the disposal of the entire issued capital of its
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Ming Hing Waterworks
Engineering (PRC) Limited (“MH PRC”), and to assign to China
Water all obligations, liabilities and debts owing or incurred by
MH PRC to the Group on the completion date of the disposal (the
“Disposal”) at the consideration of HK$53,760,000 (the “Sale

Group Consideration”).

The consideration for the Disposal was entirely offset against the
consideration of the 128,000,000 shares repurchased by the
Company equivalent to a repurchase price of HK$0.42 per Share
(“Repurchase Shares Consideration”).

16
1809-1812

82,000

34% 33% 33%

(a)

(b)

(c)

34

53,760,000

128,000,000
0.42
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Sale Group Consideration and the Repurchase Shares
Consideration were separately determined between the Company
and China Water after arm’s length negotiations and were set off
against each other to facilitate settling arrangement to avoid
unnecessary cash flow movements.

MH PRC has 100% equity interests in Ming Hing Waterworks
(Changsha) Company Limited (“MH Changsha”) which is
principally engaged in the provision of water supply services in
Ningxiang County. As disclosed in Note 29, the major operating
assets of MH Changsha were acquired by the Company in the
last financial year from Ningxiang Water pursuant to an agreement
signed on 31 August 2007.

As the Company has not planned for massive investments on new
infrastructure works within the first years of operation of Ming
Hing (Changsha) and in view of the magnitude of the investments
required within a short period of time, and the normal time lag on
return for infrastructure investments of this kind, the Company
considers it to be prudent to diversify its investments risk by
inviting co-investors to the new plants. In order to minimize the
business risk and financial expousure of the Group and take into
account the difficulties in finding another willing buyer which would,
like China Water, possess the appropriate expertise in the PRC
water supply industry and sufficient financial capability, the
Company entered into such transaction. Details of the transaction
are set out in the circular of the Company dated 3 November 2008.

The Disposal constituted a discloseable and connected transaction
subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders approval requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the financial statements, no
Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

100%
29

34
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2009, the Directors had the following interests in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporations which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”):

(a) Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.05

each of the Company

Approximate

percentage of

Capacity/ Number of shareholding in

Name of Director Notes Nature of interest Shares held the Company

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming 1 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of

controlled corporation

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung 2 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of

controlled corporation
5,704,000 0.71%

Personal

Mr. SO Yiu Cheung 3 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of

controlled corporation
2,000,000 0.25%

Personal

352

(a) 0.05

Notes:

(1) The 453,888,000 Shares are registered in the name of
Robinhoods Development Limited (“Robinhoods”), of which
Able Promise Holdings Limited (“Able Promise”) is entitled
to exercise, or control the exercise of, one-third of the voting
power at general meetings of the Company. Able Promise is
wholly-owned by Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, who is therefore
deemed to be interested in these Shares under the SFO.

(1) 453,888,000 Robinhoods
Development Limited Robinhoods

Able Promise
Holdings Limited Able Promise

Able Promise
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(a) Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.05

each of the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(2) The 453,888,000 Shares are registered in the name of
Robinhoods, of which Foremost Time Holdings Limited
(“Foremost Time”) is entitled to exercise, or control the
exercise of, one-third of the voting power at general meetings
of the Company. Foremost Time is wholly-owned by Mr. YUEN
Wai Keung, who is therefore deemed to be interested in these
Shares under the SFO.

(3) The 453,888,000 Shares are registered in the name of
Robinhoods, of which Group Honour Assets Limited (“Group

Honour”) is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of,
one-third of the voting power at general meetings of the
Company. Group Honour is wholly-owned by Mr. SO Yiu
Cheung, who is therefore deemed to be interested in these
Shares under the SFO.

(b) Beneficial interests in the shares of associated

corporations

Number of shares

held in the Approximate

Name of associated associated percentage of

Name of Director Notes corporation  corporation shareholding

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming 1 Robinhoods  four 33.33%
Able Promise  one 100%

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung 2 Robinhoods  four 33.33%
Foremost Time  one 100%

Mr. SO Yiu Cheung 3 Robinhoods  four 33.33%
Group Honour  one 100%

(a) 0.05

(2) 453,888,000 Robinhoods
Foremost Time

Hold ings  L imi ted Foremost

Time

Foremost Time

(3) 453,888,000 Robinhoods
Group Honour

Assets Limited Group Honour

G r o u p
Honour

(b)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(b) Beneficial interests in the shares of associated

corporations (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The four shares are held by Able Promise, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. YUEN Chow Ming. Accordingly, Mr. YUEN Chow
Ming is deemed to be interested in such four shares in
Robinhoods.

(2) The four shares are held by Foremost Time, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. YUEN Wai Keung. Accordingly, Mr. YUEN Wai
Keung is deemed to be interested in such four shares in
Robinhoods.

(3) The four shares are held by Group Honour, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. SO Yiu Cheung. Accordingly, Mr. SO Yiu Cheung
is deemed to be interested in such four shares in Robinhoods.

(c) Long position in the underlying Shares

Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 25 February 2006 (details are set out in note 27
to the financial statements), certain directors were granted
share options to subscribe for the Shares, details of share
options outstanding and exercisable as at 31 March 2009
were as follows:

(b)

(1) Able Promise
Able Promise

Robinhoods

(2) Foremost Time
Foremost Time

Robinhoods

(3) Group Honour
Group Honour

Robinhoods

(c)

27
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(c) Long position in the underlying Shares

(Continued)

Number of
underlying

Shares comprised
in the Exercisable Exercise

Name of Director Date of grant Capacity share options period price per share

Mr. YUEN Chow Ming 200,000 0.975
17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975

17 April 2007 to
31 May 2009

Mr. YUEN Wai Keung 200,000 0.975
17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975

17 April 2007 to
31 May 2009

Mr. SO Yiu Cheung 200,000 0.975
17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975

17 April 2007 to
31 May 2009

Mr. CHEUNG Chi 200,000 0.975
Man, Dennis 17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975

17 April 2007 to
31 May 2009

8,000,000 0.148
18 February 2009 Beneficial owner HK$0.148

18 February 2009 to
29 February 2012

Professor LEUNG Yee Tak 200,000 0.975
17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975

17 April 2007 to
31 May 2009

Mr. SUN Bo Quan 200,000 0.975
(resigned on 1 April 17 April 2007 Beneficial owner HK$0.975
April 2009) 17 April 2007 to

31 May 2009

(c)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the
Directors and their associates, had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations that was required to be
recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

352
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraphs headed “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company and its
Associated Corporations” above and note 27 to the financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouse
or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under
section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows that as at 31 March
2009, so far as the Directors are aware of, the following substantial
shareholders had interests in 5% or more of the Company’s issued
share capital:

Long position in the Shares

Approximate

percentage of

Name of Capacity/ Number of shareholding in

Substantial Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held the Company

Robinhoods 453,888,000 56.67%
Beneficial owner

Able Promise 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of controlled corporation

Foremost Time 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of controlled corporation

Group Honour 453,888,000 56.67%
Interest of controlled corporation

27

18

XV
336

5%

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2009, no other interest or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

336
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors has any competing interests in any business
or has any interest in any business that may constitute direct or
indirect competition with the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policies concerning emoluments of the employees
(including the Directors) are as follows:

(i) the amount of remuneration is determined on the basis of
the relevant employee’s experience, responsibility, workload
and the time devoted to the Group;

(ii) non-cash benefits may be provided to the employees under
their remuneration package; and

(iii) an employee may be granted, at the discretion of the Board,
options pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the
Company (the “Share Option Scheme”), as part of their
remuneration package.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
27 to the financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of total revenue, total sub-contracting costs and
purchases of materials for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers, sub-contractors and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue
– the largest customer 48.6%
– five largest customers combined 95.6%

Sub-contracting costs
– the largest sub-contractor 6.8%
– five largest sub-contractors combined 26.4%

Purchases of materials
– the largest supplier 12.8%
– five largest suppliers combined 41.6%

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

27

 48.6%
 95.6%

 6.8%
 26.4%

 12.8%
 41.6%



Directors’ Report

30

5%

32 38

25%

284,000
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS (Continued)

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s major customers, sub-contractors or
suppliers noted above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are
set out on pages 32 to 38 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public at the
date of this report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounted
to HK$284,000.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

In compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Board
established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on
11 November 2005, with written terms of reference set out in “A
Guide For The Formation Of An Audit Committee” published by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants adopted
as the terms of reference of the Audit Committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial reporting
procedures and internal control and provides guidance in relation
thereto. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie (as
Chairman of the Audit Committee), Professor LEUNG Yee Tak and
Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen. The annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2009 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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AUDITORS

The Company’s auditors, Grant Thornton who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited

YUEN Chow Ming

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 July 2009
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THE CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board considers that good corporate governance is essential
for enhancing accountability and transparency of a company to
the investment public and other shareholders. Therefore, the
Directors are dedicated to maintain high standard corporate
governance practices. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
set out in the Code of Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) set out in appendix 14 to the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2009.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. All four executive Directors
are responsible for dealing with the Group’s business in accordance
with all applicable rules and regulations, including, but not limited
to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) have been consulted on all major and
material matters of the Group.

The role of the Board includes overseeing the strategic
development, business planning, risk management, annual and
interim results, and other significant operational and financial
matters of the Group. Major corporate matters that are specifically
delegated by the Board to the management include the preparation
of annual and interim financial statements to be approved by the
Board before public reporting, execution of business strategies
and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate
systems of internal controls and risk management procedures,
and ensuring compliance with relevant statutory requirements and
rules and regulations. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board
meets regularly and acts in good faith, with due diligence and
care.
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The composition of the Board and their respective attendance in
the regular full Board meetings and other committee meetings
for year ended 31 March 2009 are as follows:

No. of meetings attended/held

Audit Nomination Remuneration

Regular Full Committee Committee Committee

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Executive Directors

YUEN Chow Ming (Chairman) 7/10 – – –
YUEN Wai Keung 10/10 – 3/3 5/5
SO Yiu Cheung 9/10 – – –
CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis 6/10 – – –

Independent non-executive Directors

LEUNG Yee Tak 6/10 2/3 3/3 4/5
LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen

(appointed on 20 February 2009) 1/10 – – –
WONG Lap Shek, Eddie

(appointed on 15 October 2008) 5/10 1/3 1/3 3/5
SUN Bo Quan

(resigned on 1 April 2009) 0/10 – – –
CHENG Ka Ming, Martin

(appointed on 1 October 2008 and
resigned on 20 February 2009) 4/10 1/3 – –

CHUNG Lai Kwok, Elaine
(resigned on 31 December 2008) 6/10 3/3 – –

CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis
(re-designated as an Executive Director
on 15 October 2008) 4/10 2/3 2/3 2/5

The number of independent non-executive Directors has met the
requirements under the Listing Rules and Mr. WONG Lap Shek,
Eddie has appropriate accounting professional qualifications.
Before the appointement of Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie,
Mr. CHEUNG Chi Man, Dennis (then as an independent non-
executive Director) had appropriate accounting professional
qualifications. The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that a l l  independent non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

3.13

3.13
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Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 15 October 2008 while Mr. LIAO Cheung
Tin, Stephen has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for a period of one year which commencing from
20 February 2009, while Professor LEUNG Yee Tak has been re-
appointed for a period of one year commencing from 1 November
2008. All the appointments of independent non-executive Directors
may be terminated by either party by giving one month’s written
notice and they are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, ten full Board meetings
were held. Minutes of the Board meetings are being kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are available for inspection
by the Directors and auditors of the Company.

THE ROLES OF THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are
held by two different persons and each of them plays a distinctive
role to ensure their respective independence and accountability.
The Chairman, Mr. YUEN Chow Ming, is responsible for the
leadership and formulation of corporate strategies of the Group.
The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. YUEN Wai Keung, is responsible
for the overall business management and corporate development
of the Group. Mr. YUEN Chow Ming is the father of Mr. YUEN Wai
Keung. Further details on the Directors are set out on pages 11 to
15 under the section headed “Biographical Details of the Directors
and Senior Management” of this report.

11 15
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. The obligations to comply with the Listing
Rules are set out in the terms of the service contract of each
executive Director and the letter of appointment of each
independent non-executive Director. The Company has made
specific enquiries with the Directors, and all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set out
under the Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2009.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie, Professor LEUNG
Yee Tak and Mr. LIAO Cheung Tin, Stephen. Mr. WONG Lap Shek,
Eddie, who possesses a professional accounting qualification and
relevant accounting experience, is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

Under its terms of reference, the main role and functions of the
Audit Committee are to review the Group’s financial information,
to supervise the Group’s financial reporting and internal control
systems, and to maintain relations with the auditors of the
Company. The Board has, through the Audit Committee, conducted
regular reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control system
of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2009.

The Group’s final results for the year ended 31 March 2009 have
been reviewed by the members of the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung (Chairman), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Professor LEUNG Yee Tak and
Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie.
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The main function of the Nomination Committee is to assist and
make recommendations to the Board to ensure that all the
nominations are fair and transparent. If the Board identifies a
suitable qualified candidate to become a Board member, it will
make recommendation to the Nomination Committee for
nomination consideration. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, made
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change
and determined the policy for the nomination of Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director,
Mr. YUEN Wai Keung (Chairman), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Professor LEUNG Yee Tak and
Mr. WONG Lap Shek, Eddie.

The key responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
review and make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for remuneration of the Directors and the senior
management and determining the remuneration package of the
Directors and the senior management.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the existing terms of remuneration of all the Directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee
considered that the existing terms of remuneration of the Directors
and the senior management were fair and reasonable. In forming
its view, the Remuneration Committee has considered and
reviewed the remuneration policy of the Group and of comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management and desirability of performance-based
remuneration.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 25 February
2006. Its purpose is to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions that the eligible participants (including the Directors)
have made or may make to the business development of the
Group. Please refer to note 27 to the financial statement for the
principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

27
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board and the management of the Group maintain a sound
and effective system of internal control of the Group so as to
ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of operations of the Group
in achieving the established corporate objectives, safeguarding
assets of the Group, rendering reliable financial reporting and
complying with the applicable laws and regulations.

The Board is also responsible for the adequacy and the
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting disclosure
controls and procedures. The Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system, covering
its financial operational, compliance control and risk management
functions.

During the year, the Company has set up a team to review the
effectiveness of its system of internal control. Relevant applicable
recommendations made by the team would be implemented by
the Group in stages to further enhance its internal control policies,
procedures and practices.

CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Company endeavors to maintain a long-term relationship with
its shareholders and investors with an adherence to the principles
of integrity, regularity and high transparency and disclose the
required information in compliance with the Listing Rules. To
ensure effective and clear communications with the investors,
analysts and fund manager, meetings are arranged and conducted
by the executive Directors and designated senior executives
according to established practices of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2009, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates and have
prepared the accounts on the going concern basis. The Directors
also warrant that the Group’s financial statements will be published
in a timely manner.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages
39 to 40 of this report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The auditors of the Company, Grant Thornton, have been appointed
to provide audit services to the Group for the year ended 31 March
2009. The remuneration paid or payable to Grant Thornton in
respect of audit services and non-audit services (including taxation
compliance fee and review of interim results) for the year ended
31 March 2009 amounted to HK$869,000 and HK$144,000
respectively.

39 40

869,000
144,000
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the members of Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ming
Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred as the “Group”) set out on pages
41 to 139, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 March 2009, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

41 139

Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Grant Thornton

Certified Public Accountants

13th Floor, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

17 July 2009

15

13
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Consolidated Income Statement
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 660,870 648,475

Cost of revenue (591,429) (564,664)

Gross profit 69,441 83,811

Other income and gains 5 7,312 6,845

Distribution and selling expenses (2,936) (629)

Administrative expenses (59,054) (52,890)

Operating profit 7 14,763 37,137

Finance costs 8 (6,566) (6,511)

Profit before income tax 8,197 30,626

Income tax expense 9 (1,806) (5,741)

Profit for the year 6,391 24,885

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 10 6,431 24,885
Minority interests (40) –

6,391 24,885

Dividend 11 – 7,432

Earnings per share 12 HK cents HK cents

– – Basic 0.713 2.845

– – Diluted 0.711 2.796
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2009 2008

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 36,585 107,126
Prepaid land lease payments 15 143 22,071
Retention receivables 20 16,285 6,157
Pledged bank deposit 21 5,000 5,000
Prepayments for investments 17 3,657 6,841

61,670 147,195

Current assets

Inventories 18 – 68
Amounts due from customers of

contract works 19 405,609 393,966
Trade and other receivables,

prepayments and deposits 20 53,755 35,266
Tax recoverable 527 –
Pledged bank deposits 21 27,297 23,936
Cash and cash equivalents 22 63,757 172,884

550,945 626,120

Current liabilities

Amounts due to customers of
contract works 19 2,541 3,707

Trade and other payables 23 63,873 65,053
Borrowings 24 144,134 209,803
Provision for tax – 680

210,548 279,243

Net current assets 340,397 346,877

Total assets less current liabilities 402,067 494,072
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
 As at 31 March 2009

2009 2008

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities

Other payables – 13,724
Borrowings 24 15,201 39,467
Deferred tax 25 3,684 3,043

18,885 56,234

Net assets 383,182 437,838

EQUITY

Share capital 26 40,049 46,539
Proposed final dividend 11 – 7,432
Reserves 28 342,831 383,867

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 382,880 437,838

Minority interests 302 –

Total equity 383,182 437,838

Director Director

YUEN Wai Keung SO Yiu Cheung
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2009 2008

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 16 136,162 79,857

Current assets

Prepayments and other receivables 608 892
Amounts due from subsidiaries 16 213,680 175,163
Cash and cash equivalents 22 568 139,622

214,856 315,677

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals 872 666
Provision for tax 692 281
Amounts due to subsidiaries 16 6,661 2,171

8,225 3,118

Net current assets 206,631 312,559

Net assets 342,793 392,416

EQUITY

Share capital 26 40,049 46,539
Proposed final dividend 11 – 7,432
Reserves 28 302,744 338,445

Total equity 342,793 392,416

Director Director

YUEN Wai Keung SO Yiu Cheung
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

* * * * * *

Share Share Merger Share Capital Translation Retained Proposed Total Minority Total

capital premium* reserve* option redemption reserve* profits* final interests equity

reserve* reserve* dividend

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2007 32,000 12,010 13,805 3,282 – – 89,229 10,426 160,752 – 160,752
Exchange differences

arising on translation of
foreign operations/Net income
recognised directly in equity – – – – – 2,893 – – 2,893 – 2,893

Profit for the year – – – – – – 24,885 – 24,885 – 24,885

Total recognised income
and  expense for the year – – – – – 2,893 24,885 – 27,778 – 27,778

Dividend paid – – – – – – – (10,448) (10,448) – (10,448)
Adjustment for 2007

final dividend – – – – – – (22) 22 – – –
Share options granted – – – 5,348 – – – – 5,348 – 5,348
Share options forfeited – – – (88) – – 88 – – – –
Shares issued upon exercise

of share options 1,878 20,094 – (3,517) – – – – 18,455 – 18,455
Issue of new shares 12,800 234,240 – – – – – – 247,040 – 247,040
Share issue expenses – (9,552) – – – – – – (9,552) – (9,552)
Repurchase of shares (139) (1,396) – – 139 – (139) – (1,535) – (1,535)
Proposed final dividend – – – – – – (7,432) 7,432 – – –

At 31 March 2008
and  1 April 20008 46,539 255,396 13,805 5,025 139 2,893 106,609 7,432 437,838 – 437,838

Exchange difference arising
on translation of
foreign operations – – – – – 1,270 – – 1,270 – 1,270

Transfer to profit or loss on
30 disposal of subsidiaries (note 30) – – – – – (3,646) – – (3,646) – (3,646)

Net expenses recognised directly
in equity – – – – – (2,376) – – (2,376) – (2,376)

Profit for the year – – – – – – 6,431 – 6,431 (40) 6,391

Total recognised income
and expense for the year – – – – – (2,376) 6,431 – 4,055 (40) 4,015

Acquisition of interests in a
subsidiary – – – – – – – – – 342 342

Dividend paid – – – – – – – (7,432) (7,432) – (7,432)
27 Share-based compensation (note 27)

Share options granted in previous years – – – 198 – – – – 198 – 198
Share options granted in current year – – – 2,929 – – – – 2,929 – 2,929

27 Share options forfeited (note 27) – – – (343) – – 343 – – – –
26 (c) Repurchase of shares (note 26 (c)) (6,490) (48,218) – – 6,490 – (6,490) – (54,708) – (54,708)

At 31 March 2009 40,049 207,178 13,805 7,809 6,629 517 106,893 – 382,880 302 383,182

* The total of these balances represents reserves in the consolidated
balance sheet.

*
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2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax 8,197 30,626
Adjustments for:

Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments 358 115

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 9,864 8,462

Interest income (871) (3,854)
Interest expenses 6,566 6,511
Impairment of prepayments for investments 3,184 –
Excess over the cost of

29 business combination (note 29) (945) (2,683)
Exchange differences 275 462
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of

property, plant and equipment (96) 228
Equity-settled share-based

compensation 3,127 5,348
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

30 (note 30) (3,416) –

Operating profit before working
capital changes 26,243 45,215

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories (356) 554
Change in net amounts due from/to

customers of contract works (12,809) (153,911)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and

other receivables, prepayments and
deposits (including retention receivables) (40,560) 24,139

Increase/(Decrease) in trade and
other payables 11,696 (5,454)

Cash used in operations (15,786) (89,457)
Interest paid on bank loans and

other borrowings (6,388) (6,463)
Interest received 871 3,854
Income tax paid

Hong Kong profits tax (1,956) (8,593)
Mainland China tax (29) –

Net cash used in operating
activities (23,288) (100,659)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Increase in pledged bank deposits (3,361) (4,707)
Payments to acquire property,

plant and equipment (8,874) (9,314)
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment 882 209
Prepayments for investments – (6,841)
Net cash outflow on business

29 combination (note 29) (668) (29,041)
Net cash outflow on disposal of

30 subsidiaries (note 30) (5,601) –

Net cash used in investing
activities (17,622) (49,694)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net proceeds from issuance of shares – 255,943
Payments for repurchase of shares (948) (1,535)
New borrowings raised 225,097 259,134
Repayment of borrowings (279,917) (186,142)
Capital element of finance lease

payments (4,621) (4,756)
Interest element of finance lease

payments (178) (543)
Dividend paid (7,432) (10,448)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing
activities (67,999) 311,653

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

cash equivalents (108,909) 161,300
Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of financial year 172,884 11,461
Exchange differences (218) 123

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

financial year 63,757 172,884
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 May 2004 as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
principal place of business is Units 1809-1812, Telford House,
16 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of maintenance and
construction works on civil engineering contracts in respect
of waterworks engineering, road works and drainage and
slope upgrading for the public sector in Hong Kong, as well
as the provision of water supply services in Mainland China.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding company
of the Company is Robinhoods Development Limited, which
was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The financial statements on pages 41 and 139 have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (including all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009
were approved for issue by the board of directors on 17 July
2009.

1.

16
1809-1812

Robinhoods Development Limited

41 139
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

2.1 Impact of new and revised HKFRSs which

are effective during the year

During the year, the Group has adopted, for the first
time, the following amendments and interpretations to
HKFRSs which are effective during the current financial
year:

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of Financial
(Amendments) Assets

HK(IFRIC) – Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and
Treasury Share Transactions

HK(IFRIC) – Int 12 Service Concession
Arrangements

HK(IFRIC) – Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding
Requirements and their
Interaction

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did
not result in significant changes in the Group’s
accounting policies and had no significant financial
impact on the Group’s financial statement. Accordingly,
no prior period adjustment is required.

2.

2.1

39

7

2
 11  

 12

19
 14  
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

2.2 Impact of new and revised HKFRSs which

are issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued at the date of
authorisation of these financial statements but not yet
effective in the current financial year:

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1

HKAS 1, HKAS 32, Puttable Financial Instruments and
HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Obligations Arising on Liquidation 1

(Amendments)

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs 1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements 2

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items 2

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards 2

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
(Amendments) Jointly Controller Entity and an

Associate 1

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Share-based Payment – Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations 1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations 2

HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments 1

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments 1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 9 & Embedded Derivatives 5

HKAS 39 (Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) – Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 3

HK(IFRIC) – Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of
Real Estate 1

2.

2.2

1 1

1
32
39 1

7
23 1

27
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

2.2 Impact of new and revised HKFRSs which

are issued but are not yet effective

(Continued)

HK(IFRIC) – Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a
Foreign Operation 4

HK(IFRIC) – Int 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to
Owners 2

HK(IFRIC) – Int 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers 6

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2008 7

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009 8

Notes:

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2008

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 October 2008

5 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June
2009

6 Effective for transfers of assets from customers
received on or after 1 July 2009

7 Generally effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2009 unless otherwise stated in the
specific HKFRS

8 Generally effective for annual periods beginning on or
1 January 2010 unless otherwise stated in the specific
HKFRS

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning after the effective date of the
pronouncement.

2.

2.2
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

2.2 Impact of new and revised HKFRSs which

are issued but are not yet effective

(Continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial

statements

The amendment affects the presentation of owner
changes in equity and introduces a statement of
comprehensive income. Preparers will have the option
of presenting items of income and expenses and
components of other comprehensive income either in
a single statement of comprehensive income with
subtotals or in two separate statements (a separate
income statement followed by a statement of other
comprehensive income). This amendment does not
affect the financial position or result of the Group but
will give rise to additional disclosures.

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

The standard is applicable for business combinations
occurring in reporting period beginning on or after 1
July 2009 and will be applied prospectively. The new
standard introduce changes to the accounting
requirements for business combinations, but still
requires the use of the purchase method and will have
a significant effect on business combinations occurring
in reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

This standard replaces HKAS 14 “Segment reporting”.
The accounting policy for identifying segments could
be based on internal management reporting information
that is regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating
decision maker. In contrast HKAS 14 requires the Group
to identify two sets of segments (business and
geographical) based on the risks and rewards of
separating segments. Management anticipate that the
adoption of this standard will not affect the identified
operating segments of the Group. The new standard
will also require a different format of disclosures which
would be based on information provided internally to
the chief operating decision marker.

2.

2.2

1

3

8

14
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

2.2 Impact of new and revised HKFRSs which

are issued but are not yet effective

(Continued)

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements

The revised standard introduces changes to the
accounting requirements for the loss of control of a
subsidiary and for the changes in the Group’s interest
in subsidiaries. Management anticipates that the
standard would not result in materials impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

The Group is in the process of assessing the impact of
the other new or revised HKFRSs upon initial application
but is not yet in a position to state whether they would
have materials impact on the Group’s financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. The measurement bases
are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions have been used in preparing these
financial statements. Although these estimates and
assumptions are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 “Critical
Accounting Estimates and Judgements”.

2.

2.2

27

3.

3.1
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
f inancia l  statements of  the Company and i ts
subsidiaries (note 3.3) made up to 31 March each year.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Company obtains control ,  and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All material intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Business combinations are accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. This method involves
allocating the cost of a business combination to the
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities including contingent liabilities assumed at the
date of the business combination. The cost of business
combination is measured at the aggregate of the fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued
and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
business combination.

Intra-group transaction, balance and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

Minority interest represents the portion of the profit or
loss and net assets of a subsidiary attributable to equity
interests that are not owned by the Group and are not
the Group’s financial liabilities.

3.

3.2

3.3
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Notes to the Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Minority interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from the equity
attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Profit
or loss attributable to the minority interests are
presented separately in the consolidated income
statement as an allocation of the Group’s results. Where
losses applicable to the minority exceeds the minority
interests in the subsidiary’s equity, the excess and
further losses applicable to the minority are allocated
against the minority interest to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make
an addit ional investment to cover the losses.
Otherwise, the losses are charged against the Group’s
interests. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits,
such profits are allocated to the minority interests only
after the minority’s share of losses previously absorbed
by the Group has been recovered.

3.3 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to control,
directly or indirectly, the financial and operating policies
so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company controls another
entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, subsidiaries are carried
at cost less any impairment loss. The results of the
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable at the
balance sheet date.

3.4 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a
business combination over the Group’s interests in the
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities including contingent liabilities assumed as at
the date of acquisition.

3.

3.2

3.3

3.4
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.4 Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in
the consolidated balance sheet as an asset at cost and
subsequently measured at cost less any impairment
losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
at the balance sheet date or more frequently if events
or change in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value of goodwill may be impaired.

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of a business
combination is recognised immediately in the income
statement.

3.5 Revenue and other income recognition

Revenue and other income is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and when the income can be measured reliably
on the following bases:

(i) When the outcome of civil engineering contracts
can be est imated re l iab ly,  revenue from
maintenance or construction works on civil
engineering contracts is recognised according to
the percentage of completion of individual
contract at the balance sheet date (note 3.10).

(ii) Revenue arising from water supply is recognised
based on the volume of water supplied as
recorded by meters read during the year.

(iii) Water supply related installation income is
recognised when the relevant installation work is
performed.

(iv) Interest income is recognised on a t ime-
proportion basis by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

3.

3.4

3.5

(i)

3.10

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, which
comprise purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 3.7).
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs such as repairs and maintenance
are charged to the income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of each
item of property, plant and equipment less its residual
value, if applicable over its estimated useful lives.
Buildings and water pipelines are depreciated using
straight-line method at the annual rates of 3.17% and
4.85% respectively. Other items of property, plant and
equipment are depreciated using reducing balance
method at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 30%
Motor vehicles 20%
Machinery and tools 30%
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date. An item of property, plant and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Gain or loss arising from the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and is
recognised in the income statement.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category
of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

3.7 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease
payments and investments in subsidiaries are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications that the
assets’ carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting
market conditions less costs to sell, and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that ref lects current market
assessment of time value of money and the risk specific
to the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Impairment of non-f inancial  assets

(Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inf lows largely
independent from those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of  assets  that  generate  cash in f lows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result,
some assets are tested individually for impairment and
some are tested at cash-generating unit level.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount but only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised.

A reversal of such impairment is credited to income
statement in the period in which it arises unless that
asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for the
revalued amount.

3.8 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of
whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.8 Leases (Continued)

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases.

Operating leases – as lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under the
leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in the income
statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to the
income statement in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Prepaid land lease payments represent up-front
payments to acquire the land use rights or leasehold
land. They are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (note 3.7).
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the lease term except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.8 Leases (Continued)

Finance leases – as leases

Where the Group acquires the right to use the assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present values
of the minimum lease payments, of such assets are
included in property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligation under finance leases.

Subsequent accounting for assets held under finance
lease agreements corresponds to those applied to
comparable acquired assets. The corresponding finance
lease liability is reduced by lease payments less finance
charges.

Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are
charged to income statement over the period of the
leases so as to produce an approximately constant
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

3.9 Financial assets

Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition depending on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this
designation at the balance sheet date.

3.

3.8

  

3.9



Notes to the Financial Statements
 For the year ended 31 March 2009

62

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Financial assets (Continued)

All financial assets are recognised when, and only
when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade
date. Regular way purchase or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction cost.
Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments expire or
are transferred and substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred.

The Group’s financial assets mainly comprise loans and
receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and
receivables are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost. Gain
and losses are recognised in the income statement
when the loans and receivables are decrecognised or
impaired as well as through the amortisation process.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Financial assets (Continued)

At each balance sheet date, loans and receivables are
reviewed to determine whether there is any objective
evidence impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable date that come to the attention of
the Group about one or more of the followings loss
events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtors;

– a breach of  contract ,  such as default  or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtors will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

– significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows
from the group of financial assets. Such observable data
includes but not limited to adverse changes in the
payment status of debtors in the group and, national
or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on the assets in the group.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the assets is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. The amount of impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement of the period in
which the impairment occurs. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off
when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery
and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.9 Financial assets (Continued)

If, in subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decrease and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is revised by adjusting the allowance account. Any
subsequent reversal  of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement to the extent that
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date.

3.10Civil engineering contracts

When the outcome of civil engineering contracts can
be estimated reliably, revenue from maintenance or
construction works on civil engineering contracts and
the associated contract costs are recognised according
to the stage of completion of individual contract at the
balance sheet date. The stage of completion is
determined using percentage of completion method
by reference to the survey of work performed or
contract costs incurred to date, depending on nature
of the contract.

When the outcome of civil engineering contracts cannot
be estimated reliably, no profit is recognised and
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that would probably be recoverable.

Provisions are made for any foreseeable losses when
they are identified and recognised immediately as an
expense in the income statement. Variations in contract
work, claims and incentive payments are recognised
as revenue when it is propable that they will be
approved by customers and they can be measured
reliably.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.10Civil engineering contracts (Continued)

Amounts due from customers of contract works
represent contract costs incurred plus recognised
profits less progress billings and any foreseeable
losses. Amounts due to customers of contract works
represent the excess of progress billings over contract
costs incurred plus recognised profits less any
foreseeable losses. Costs mainly comprise materials,
direct labour and sub-contractors’ fees. Costs incurred
during the year in connection with future activity of a
contract are recognised as amounts due from
customers of contract works. Amounts billed for works
performed but not yet paid by the customers are
included in the balance sheet under “trade and other
receivables, prepayments and deposits”.

Retentions, representing amounts of progress billings
which are payable to sub-contractors or receivables
from customers when conditions specified in the
contracts undertaken are satisfied, are included in the
balance sheet under “trade and other payables” and
“trade and other receivables, prepayments and
deposits” respectively.

3.11 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.11 Foreign currencies (Continued)

In the separate financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency of the individual entity using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year-end exchange
rates are recognised in the income statement. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not translated. Non-
monetar y i tems carr ied at  fa i r  value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain entities of the
Group are currencies other than HK$. For the purpose
of the consolidated financial statements, assets and
liabilities of those entities at the balance sheet date
are translated into HK$ at exchange rate prevailing on
the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are
translated into HK$ at the average exchange rate for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are dealt
with in the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation
differences are recognised as income or as expenses
in the period in which the foreign entity is disposed of.

3.12 Income taxes

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax is recognised in the income statement or in equity
if it relates to items that are recognised directly in
equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12 Income taxes (Continued)

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, tax losses available to be carried forward
as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits, including existing
temporary difference, will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investment in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.12 Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in the income statement or in equity if they
relate to items that are charged or credited directly to
equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

3.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose
of cash flow statement presentation, cash and cash
equivalents include bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when
they accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date. Non-accumulating compensated
absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based employee compensation

Details about the accounting policy on share-based
compensation to employee are set out in note 3.15
below.

3.15 Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contributions that the eligible participants have made
to the Group. Eligible participants including employees
(including directors), customers, suppliers, agents,
partners, consultants, advisers or shareholders of or
contractors to the Group or any affiliate, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based compensation,
whereby eligible participants render services as
consideration for equity instrument (i.e. equity-settled
transactions).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
the options are granted excluding the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions. The cost of equity-
settled transactions with parties other than employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the goods
or services provided.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15 Share-based compensation (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
as  an  expense in  income st a tement  wi th  a
corresponding increase in share option reserve within
equity. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions
apply, the expense is allocated using straight-line basis
over the vesting period, based on the best available
estimate of the number of share options expected to
vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are
subsequently revised if there is indication that the
number of share options expected to vest differs from
previous estimates. Any adjustment to the fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
income statement for the year of the review with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share
option reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting that relate to market condition
(which is treated as vesting irrespective of whether or
not the market condition is satisfied).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.16 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise trade and other
payables, borrowings and finance lease liabilities.
Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. A financial liability is derecognised when
the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. Financial liabilities are classified
as current l iabi l i t ies unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing l iabi l ity are
substant ia l ly  modi f ied,  such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the
difference in the respective carrying amount is
recognised in the income statement.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at
amortised costs. Any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction cost) and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest rate.

Finance lease liabilities are measured at initial value
less the capital element of lease repayments (note 3.8).

All interest related charges are recognised as an
expense in finance costs in the income statement.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where the effect of discounting
is material, provisions are stated at the present value
of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discount present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the income statement of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
uncertain events not wholly with the control of the
Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

3.18 Financial guarantee issued

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39
are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
(or guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.18 Financial guarantee issued (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance
of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration is
received or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any
deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addit ion, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 3.17 if and when it
becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will
call upon the Group under the guarantee and the
amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the current carrying amount i.e. the amount
initially recognised less accumulated amortisation,
where appropriate.

3.19 Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

3.20 Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified
as a separate allocation of retained profits within equity,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. When these dividends are approved
and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

3.21 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.21 Equity instruments (Continued)

Repurchases of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. On
repurchase of the Company’s own shares, the amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares repurchased
is transferred from retained prof its to capital
redemption reserve. No gain or loss is recognised in
income statement on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

3.22 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements,a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediate, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating decisions,
or has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a jointly
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or
a close family member of such an individual, or is
an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which
is for the benefit of employees of the Group or
any entity that is related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealing with the
entity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.23 Segment reporting

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting, the Group has determined that business
segments be presented as the primary reporting format
and geographical segments as the secondary reporting
format.

In respect of business segment reporting, unallocated
income and expenses include corporate income and
expenses and other income and expenses that cannot
be allocated on a reasonable basis to the reportable
segments. Segment assets consist primary of property,
plant and equipment, prepaid land leases payments,
receivables, pledged deposits and operating cash.
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and
exclude items such as taxation and borrowings incurred
for financing purpose.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment and prepaid land leases payments
including additions resulting from acquisition through
business combination.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
histor ica l  exper ience and other factors,  inc luding
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

3.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

4.1 Civil engineering contracts

Revenue from maintenance and construction works on
civil engineering contracts is recognised according to
the percentage of completion of individual contract
which requires the estimation of contract costs and
gross profit margin of each contract. Contract costs and
gross profit margin of individual contract is determined
based on budget of the contract which was prepared
by the management of the Group. In order to ensure
that the total estimated contract costs are accurate and
up-to-date such that gross profit margin can be
estimated reliably, management reviews the costs
incurred to date and costs to completion frequently, in
particular in the case of costs over-runs and the variation
orders from customers, and revise the estimated
contract costs where necessary.

If the actual contract costs and the gross profit margin
differs from the management’s estimates, the contract
revenue and gross profit to be recognised in the next
financial year will be adjusted accordingly.

4.2 Impairment of receivables

Impa i rment  of  rece ivab les is  determined by
management based on the credit history of its
customers and the current market condition. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in the
financial position of the customers. Management would
re-assess the amount of impairment for receivables, if
any, at each balance sheet date.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.3 Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated in
according with the accounting policy stated in note 3.6.
The estimate useful lives of property, plant and
equipment reflect the management’s estimation of the
periods during which the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of these assets.

4.4 Estimates of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxation. Where the final tax
outcome is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such
determination are made.

4.

4.3

3.6

4.4
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The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Contract revenue from maintenance
and construction works on civil
engineering contracts 630,749 640,708

Revenue from water supply services 19,212 4,762
Water supply related installation fee 10,909 3,005

660,870 648,475

Other income and gains

Bank interest income 871 3,854
Compensation received (note) 1,077 –
Excess over the cost of business

29 combination (note 29) 945 2,683
Gain on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 96 –
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

30 (note 30) 3,416 –
Sundry income 907 308

7,312 6,845

Total income 668,182 655,320

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover,
and other income and gains is as follows:

5.

Note:

During the current financial year, the Group received an amount of
HK$1,077,000 from the government of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) as compensation for the loss arising from the snow
storm occurred in last financial year.

1,077,000
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised
into two operating divisions — waterworks engineering
contracting business and water supply business. These
divisions form the basis on which the Group reports its
primary segment information.

The principal activities of the operating divisions are as
follows:

(i) “Waterworks engineering contracting business”
segment involves the provision of maintenance and
construction works on civil engineering contracts in
respect of waterworks engineering, road works and
drainage and slope upgrading for the public sector in
Hong Kong; and

(ii) “Water supply business” segment involves the
provision of water supply services and water supply
related installation services in Mainland China.

The Group determines geographical segments as its
secondary reporting format. In determining the geographical
segments, revenue is attributed to the segments based on
the location of customers, and assets and capital expenditure
are attributed to the segments based on the location of the
assets.

6.

  

(i)

(ii)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Business segments

Waterworks

engineering Water supply

contracting business business Consolidated

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE AND RESULTS

* Segment revenue* 630,749 640,708 30,121 7,767 660,870 648,475

Segment results 18,772 40,185 5,841 3,684 24,613 43,869

Corporate and other
unallocated income
and expenses (9,850) (6,732)

14,763 37,137

Finance costs (6,566) (6,511)

Profit before income tax 8,197 30,626

Income tax expenses (1,806) (5,741)

Profit for the year 6,391 24,885

FINANCIAL POSITIONS

Segment assets 557,438 481,157 17,519 115,867 574,957 597,024

Corporate and other
unallocated assets 37,658 176,291

Total assets 612,615 773,315

Segment liabilities 68,081 54,170 24 27,648 68,105 81,818

Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities 161,328 253,659

Total liabilities 229,433 335,477

OTHER INFORMATION

Capital expenditure 3,314 9,796 15,634 74,005 18,948 83,801
Depreciation and amortisation 6,776 7,497 3,446 1,080 10,222 8,577
Excess over the cost of

business combination – – 945 2,683 945 2,683
Equity-settled share-based

compensation 3,127 5,348 – – 3,127 5,348

* There were no inter-segment sales between different business
segments for the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008.

6.

*
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical segments

Hong Kong Mainland China Consolidated

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 630,749 640,708 30,121 7,767 660,870 648,475

Other segment information

Segment assets 595,096 657,448 17,519 115,867 612,615 773,315
Capital expenditure 3,314 9,796 15,634 74,005 18,948 83,801

6.
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The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating profit is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

Amortisation of prepaid land
lease payments 358 115

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

– – owned assets 8,123 6,147
– – leased assets 1,741 2,315

9,864 8,462

Staff costs (including directors’
emoluments)

– – salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind 83,600 85,177

– – retirement benefits scheme
contributions 1,652 3,409

– – equity-settled share-based
27 compensation (note 27) 886 1,709

86,138 90,295

Operating lease charges
– – land and buildings 1,382 1,408
– – plant and machinery 12,790 8,479

14,172 9,887

Auditors’ remuneration 924 613
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment (96) 228
Impairment of prepayments for

17 investments (note 17) 3,184 –
Net foreign exchange loss 147 227

7. OPERATING PROFIT7.
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The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest charges on:
Bank loans wholly repayable

within five years 5,949 5,717
Interest element of finance

lease payments 178 543
Other borrowings repayable

within five years 439 251

6,566 6,511

8. FINANCE COSTS

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income tax expenses comprise:
Current tax for the year

– – Hong Kong profits tax 1,791 5,820
– – Enterprise income tax 897 88

2,688 5,908

Over provision in prior years
– – Hong Kong profits tax (1,009) (143)

25 Deferred tax (note 25)
– – Attributable to decrease in tax rate (173) –
– – Others 300 (24)

127 (24)

Income tax expense 1,806 5,741

8.

9.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The Hong Kong SAR Government enacted a reduction in the
Profits Tax Rates from 17.5% to 16.5% with effect from the
year of assessment 2008/09. Accordingly, the relevant profits
tax and deferred tax have been calculated using the new tax
rate of 16.5%.

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) arising from the PRC is
calculated according to the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC. The applicable tax rate for the EIT is 25% (2008:
25%).

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before income tax at applicable tax rates as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before income tax 8,197 30,626

Notional tax on profit calculated at the
rates applicable to profits in the
jurisdiction concerned 894 5,565

Effect on opening deferred tax balance
resulting from a decrease in tax rate
during the year (173) –

Tax effect of non-taxable income (1,545) (1,178)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,172 1,143
Over provision in prior years (1,009) (143)
Others 467 354

Income tax expense 1,806 5,741

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

Of the consolidated profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company of HK$6,431,000 (2008: HK$24,885,000), a
profit of HK$9,702,000 (2008: HK$9,010,000) has been dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company.

9.

17.5%
16.5%

16.5%

25%
25%

10.

6,431,000 24,885,000
 9,702,000

9,010,000 
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11. DIVIDEND

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend proposed after the balance
sheet date of nil

0.80 (2008: HK0.80 cents) per share – 7,432

Dividend paid and recognised as distributions during the year
ended 31 March 2009 amounted to HK$7,432,000 (2008:
HK$10,448,000).

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year of HK$6,431,000 (2008: HK$24,885,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year of 901,701,000 (2008: 874,772,000).

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit for the year of HK$6,431,000 (2008: HK$24,885,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year adjusted for the weighted average number
of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all outstanding
share options of the Company into ordinary shares which is
calculated as follows:

2009 2008

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year used
in the calculation of basic earnings
per share 901,701,000 874,772,000

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
in respect of the outstanding share

27 options (note 27) 3,029,000 15,217,000

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share 904,730,000 889,989,000

11.

7,432,000
10,448,000

12.

6,431,000 24,885,000

901,701,000
874,772,000

6,431,000 24,885,000
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Salaries, Retirement Equity-

allowances benefits settled

and benefits scheme share-based

Fees in kind contributions compensation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2009

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Chow Ming – 1,034 – – 1,034

Mr. Yuen Wai Keung – 1,034 12 – 1,046

Mr. So Yiu Cheung – 1,034 12 – 1,046

Mr. Cheung Chi Man,
(i) Dennis (note (i)) – 525 6 366 897

Independent Non-

Executive Directors

Professor Leung Yee Tak 120 – – – 120

Mr. Liao Cheung Tin,
(ii) Stephen (note (ii)) 13 – – – 13

Mr. Wong Lap Shek,
(iii) Eddie (note (iii)) 33 – – – 33

Mr. Cheung Chi Man,
 (i) Dennis (note (i)) 48 – – – 48

Ms. Chung Lai Kwok,
(iv) Elaine (note (iv)) 90 – – – 90

Mr. Sun Bo Quan
 (v) (note (v)) 100 – – – 100

Mr. Cheng Ka Ming,
(vi) Martin (note (vi)) 47 – – – 47

451 3,627 30 366 4,474

13.

(a)
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Salaries, Retirement Equity-
allowances benefits settled

and benefits scheme share-based
Fees in kind contributions compensation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2008
Executive Directors

Mr. Yuen Chow Ming – 1,014 – 38 1,052
Mr. Yuen Wai Keung – 1,014 12 38 1,064
Mr. So Yiu Cheung – 1,014 12 38 1,064

Independent Non-

Executive Directors

Professor Leung Yee Tak 120 – – 38 158
Mr. Cheung Chi Man,

Dennis 96 – – 38 134
Ms. Chung Lai Kwok,

Elaine 45 – – – 45
Mr. Sun Bo Quan 100 – – 38 138
Dr. Ho Chung Tai,

(vii) Raymond (note (vii)) 70 – – 38 108

431 3,042 24 266 3,763

13.

(a)
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Note:

(i) re-designated from an Independent Non-executive
Directors to be an Executive Directors on 15 October
2008

(ii) appointed on 20 February 2009

(iii) appointed on 15 October 2008

(iv) resigned on 1 January 2009

(v) resigned on 1 April 2009

(vi) appointed on 1 October 2008 and resigned on 20
February 2009

(vii) resigned on 1 November 2007

No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
in respect of the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008.

13.

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)



Notes to the Financial Statements

90

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENTS’ EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group included
four (2008: three) directors whose emoluments have
been disclosed above. The emoluments paid to the
remaining one (2008: two) highest paid, non-director
individuals are as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and 780 1,608
benefits in kind

Retirement benefits scheme 12 20
contributions

Equity-settled share-based
compensation 30 557

822 2,185

The aggregate emoluments of the above one (2008:
two) highest paid, non-director individual fell within the
following bands:

Number of individuals

2009 2008

1 1,000,000 HK$1 – HK$1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 – 1

1 2

During the years ended 31 March 2009 and 2008, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

13.

(b)

(
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture, Leasehold

fixtures and improve- Motor Machinery Water Construction

The Group Buildings equipment ments vehicles and tools pipelines in progress Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2007
Cost – 3,266 3,267 21,627 18,053 – – 46,213
Accumulated

depreciation – (1,342) (1,019) (6,294) (8,225) – – (16,880)

Net book amount – 1,924 2,248 15,333 9,828 – – 29,333

Net book amount
At 1 April 2007 – 1,924 2,248 15,333 9,828 – – 29,333
Translation adjustment 1,763 304 – 9 – 765 50 2,891
Additions – 3,885 1,589 3,207 1,251 – 28 9,960
Additions through

business combination 44,955 7,838 – 255 – 19,543 1,250 73,841
Disposals – (103) – (334) – – – (437)
Depreciation (377) (967) (828) (3,238) (2,777) (275) – (8,462)

At 31 March 2008 46,341 12,881 3,009 15,232 8,302 20,033 1,328 107,126

At 31 March 2008
Cost 46,726 15,195 4,856 24,283 19,304 20,313 1,328 132,005
Accumulated

depreciation (385) (2,314) (1,847) (9,051) (11,002) (280) – (24,879)

Net book amount 46,341 12,881 3,009 15,232 8,302 20,033 1,328 107,126

Net book amount

At 1 April 2008 46,341 12,881 3,009 15,232 8,302 20,033 1,328 107,126
Translation adjustment 954 166 – 4 – 361 68 1,553
Additions – 1,672 331 2,147 316 22 4,554 9,042
Additions through

29 business combination
(note 29) 1,371 597 – – – 6,822 968 9,758

Transfer – – – – – 961 (961) –
Disposal of subsidiaries

30 (note30) (46,159) (8,393) – (141) – (19,594) (5,957) (80,244)
Disposals – (105) (368) (271) (42) – – (786)
Depreciation (1,192) (1,647) (773) (2,931) (2,234) (1,087) – (9,864)

At 31 March 2009 1,315 5,171 2,199 14,040 6,342 7,518 – 36,585

At 31 March 2009

Cost 1,360 8,139 4,369 25,486 19,569 7,754 – 66,677
Accumulated

depreciation (45) (2,968) (2,170) (11,446) (13,227) (236) – (30,092)

Net book amount 1,315 5,171 2,199 14,040 6,342 7,518 – 36,585

14.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

During the year, additions to motor vehicles financed by new
finance leases were HK$168,000 (2008: HK$646,000).

As at 31 March 2009, the net book amount of assets held
under finance leases included in the net book amount of
motor vehicles and machinery and tools amounted to
HK$5,995,000 (2008: HK$7,134,000) and HK$1,334,000
(2008: HK$2,193,000) respectively.

The analysis of the net carrying amount of the properties is
as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

In Mainland China, held under

 – long-term leases – 2,344
 – medium-term leases 1,460 66,538

1,460 68,882

Representing:
Buildings 1,315 46,341
Prepaid land lease payments

15 (note 15) 145 22,541

1,460 68,882

14.

168,000
646,000

5 , 9 9 5 , 0 0 0
7,134,000 1,334,000

2,193,000
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 22,541 –
1 April 2008/2007

Translation adjustment 470 857
Addition through business combination

29 (note 29) 148 21,799
30 Disposal of subsidiaries (note 30) (22,656) –

Amortisation charged (358) (115)

Carrying amount at
31 March 2009/2008 145 22,541

Analysed into:
Non-current portion included in

non-current assets 143 22,071
Current portion included in current

20 assets (note 20) 2 470

145 22,541

16. SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments in subsidiaries
Unlisted shares, at cost 136,162 79,857

Amounts due from subsidiaries 213,680 175,163

Amounts due to subsidiaries 6,661 2,171

15.

16.

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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16. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009 are as
follows:

Attributable

Place of incorporation/ Issued and equity Principal activities and

Name registration paid up capital interests held place of operation

Interests held directly

1 100%
Rich Path Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 Investment holding in

(ordinary share) Hong Kong

Interests held indirectly

68,800,000 100%
Ming Hing Waterworks Hong Kong HK$68,800,000 Civil engineering contracting

Engineering Company (ordinary shares) business in Hong Kong
Limited

15,000 100%
Ming Hing Civil Contractors Hong Kong HK$15,000 Civil engineering contracting

Limited (ordinary shares) business in Hong Kong

2,100 100%
Dominic Science & Hong Kong HK$2,100

Technology Limited (ordinary shares) Provision of technical support
services on civil engineering
contracting business in
Hong Kong

DST Engineering Supplies 100 100%
Limited Hong Kong HK$100 (ordinary shares) Trading of civil engineering

materials in Hong Kong

16.
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16. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009 are as
follows: (Continued)

Attributable

Place of incorporation/ Issued and equity Principal activities and

Name registration paid up capital interests held place of operation

Interests held indirectly

 (Continued)

100 100%
DST Pipe Rehab Limited Hong Kong HK$100 (ordinary shares) Inactive

95%
Ming Hing – INFO JV Hong Kong N/A Civil engineering contracting

business in Hong Kong

1,282,343 100%
(a) PRC US$1,282,343

note (a) Water purification processing
technology research and
development in
Mainland China

100 100%
Ming Hing Waterworks British Virgin Islands US$100 (ordinary shares) Investment holding in

(Qingyuan) Limited Hong Kong

100 100%
Ming Hing Water Treatment British Virgin Islands US$100 (ordinary shares) Inactive

Engineering (PRC) Limited

100 100%
Ming Hing Waterworks British Virgin Islands US$100 (ordinary shares) Inactive

(Leizhou) Limited

16.
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16. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009 are as
follows: (Continued)

Attributable

Place of incorporation/ Issued and equity Principal activities and

Name registration paid up capital interests held place of operation

Interests held indirectly

 (Continued)

100 100%
Ming Hing Waterworks British Virgin Islands US$100 (ordinary shares) Inactive

(Nanning) Limited

100 100%
Ming Hing Waterworks British Virgin Islands US$100 (ordinary shares) Inactive

(Guiping) Limited

1,367,670 100%
PRC US$1,367,670 Investment holding in

(a) Mainland China
note (a)

9,600,000 (b)
PRC RMB9,600,000 note (b) Water supply business

in Mainland China

Notes:

(a) These companies are registered as wholly foreign owned
enterprises under the PRC Law.

(b) The Group has 98.96% interest in the registered capital of
the entity and is entitled to share 85% of the profit or loss of
the entity.

16.

(a)

(b) 98.96%
85%
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17. PREPAYMENTS FOR INVESTMENTS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

  Raw materials and supplies – at cost – 68

17.

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits paid for potential investments 6,841 6,841
Less: Provision for impairment (3,184) –

3,657 6,841

The balance as at 31 March 2009 comprise the followings:

(a) The amount of  RMB2,000,000 (equiva lent  to
approximately HK$2,157,000) represents the deposit
paid by the Group in last financial year for the potential
formation of an equity joint venture which will be
principally engaged in provision of water supply
services in Leizhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC.

(b) The amount of  RMB3,000,000 (equiva lent  to
approximately HK$3,184,000) represents the deposit
paid by the Group in last financial year in relation to the
potential investment in a PRC entity which will be
principally engaged in the provision of water supply
services in Guangxi Province, the PRC. In light of the
increasing uncertainly as to the completion of the
acquisition and the recoverability of the aforesaid
deposit, the Directors have made full provision for the
deposit accordingly.

(c) The amount of HK$1,500,000 represents deposit paid
by the Group in last financial year in relation to the
potential acquisition of equity interests in certain PRC
entities. These entities are principally engaged in the
provision of water supply services in Qingyuan City,
Guangdong Province, the PRC.

18. INVENTORIES

(a)

2,000,000 2,157,000

(b)

3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0
3,184,000

(c)

1,500,000

18.
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19. CIVIL ENGINEERING CONTRACTS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits 1,958,371 1,364,340

Less: Progress billings to date (1,539,214) (974,081)
Less: Foreseeable losses (16,089) –

403,068 390,259

Amounts due from customers of
contract works 405,609 393,966

Amounts due to customers of
contract works (2,541) (3,707)

403,068 390,259

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Trade receivables (note (a)) 27,068 7,956
(b) Retention receivables (note (b)) 18,487 8,793

15 Prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 2 470
Prepayments and deposits 6,319 8,410

(c) Other receivables (note (c)) 18,164 15,794

70,040 41,423

Less: Retention receivables included
under non-current assets (16,285) (6,157)

53,755 35,266

19.

20.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables (based on invoice
date) as at the balance sheet date is as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 3 months 27,065 7,658
4 to 6 months 2 140
7 to 9 months 1 90
10 to 12 months – 17
Over 1 year – 51

27,068 7,956

Credit period granted to customers of contract works is
normally 30 to 60 days. Application for progress payments of
contract works is made on a regular basis. Credit period
granted to customers of water supply business is normally
30 days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither
individually nor collectively considered to be impaired as at
the balance sheet date is as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 27,065 7,165

Past due but not considered impaired
Within 3 months 1 503
4 to 6 months 1 138
7 to 9 months 1 84
10 to 12 months – 16
Over 1 year – 50

27,068 7,956

20.

(a)

30 60

30
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Trade receivables as at the balance sheet date mainly derived
from provision of maintenance and construction works on civil
engineering contracts. The related customers are mainly
government departments/organisation and reputable
corporations. These customers have established good track
record with the Group and have no history of default
payments. On this basis, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of the trade
receivables as at 31 March 2009. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

(b) Retention monies withheld by customers of contract works
are released after the completion of maintenance period of
the relevant contract or in accordance with the terms specified
in the relevant contract.

(c) Other receivables as at the balance sheet date mainly
comprise the advance payments to the principal sub-
contractors. The Group has established long business
relationship with these sub-contractors which provide on-
going sub-contracting services to the Group and have no
history of default payments. Accordingly, impairment
allowance is not necessary in respect of these balances.

(d) Trade and other receivables including the retention receivables
are short term and hence the directors consider the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables approximate their fair
values at the balance sheet dates.

20.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

24 Bank deposits pledged against certain
bank loans (note 24) and performance
bonds 32,297 28,936

Less: Pledged bank deposit included
under non-current assets (5,000) (5,000)

Pledged bank deposits included under
current assets 27,297 23,936

Pledged bank deposits all denominated in HK$, earn interest
at fixed rate ranged from 0.05% to 2.49% (2008: 1.05% to
1.72%) per annum and have maturity period of one month
(2008: three months) on average. The carrying amounts of
these bank deposits approximate their fair values at the
balance sheet dates.

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 60,757 32,684
Short-term bank deposits 3,000 140,200

63,757 172,884

21.

0.05 2.49
1.05 1.72

22.



Notes to the Financial Statements

102

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

The Company

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 568 422
Short-term bank deposits – 139,200

568 139,622

As at 31 March 2009, cash balance denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to HK$3,521,000 (2008: HK$5,562,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits carry interest
at fixed rate of 1.00% (2008: 0.30% to 1.15%) per annum
and have maturity period of one month (2008: one week) on
average.

The directors consider that the fair value of the short-term
deposits is not materially different from their carrying
amounts because of the short maturity period.

22.

3,521,000
5,562,000

1.00 0.30
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Details of the trade and other payables including the ageing
analysis of trade payables (based on invoice date) are as
follow:

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables aged
Within 3 months 41,243 30,823
4 to 6 months 7,128 4,024
7 to 9 months 508 175
10 to 12 months 1,418 103
Over 1 year 897 2,862

51,194 37,987

(a) Retention payables (note (a)) 1,805 33
Other payables and accruals 10,874 27,033

63,873 65,053

Notes:

(a) Retention monies withheld by the Group are released after
the completion of maintenance period of the relevant contract.

(b) Credit period granted by suppliers and subcontractors is
normally 30 to 60 days.

(c) Trade and other payables are short term and hence the
directors consider the carrying amount of trade and other
payables approximate their fair values at the balance sheet
dates.

23.

(
)

(a)

(b)
30 60

(c)
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24. BORROWINGS

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current

(a) Bank loans, secured (note (a)) 141,771 197,649
Other loans, unsecured – 7,466

(b) Finance lease liabilities (note (b)) 2,363 4,688

144,134 209,803

Non-current

(a) Bank loans, secured (note (a)) 15,000 31,649
Other loans, unsecured – 5,491

(b) Finance lease liabilities (note (b)) 201 2,327

15,201 39,467

Total borrowings 159,335 249,270

Analysed into:

Bank loans repayable
Within one year 141,771 197,649
In the second year 15,000 20,550
In the third to fifth years,

inclusive – 11,099

156,771 229,298

Other borrowings repayable
Within one year 2,363 12,154
In the second year 201 2,786
In the third to fifth years, – 2,100

inclusive
Beyond five years – 2,932

2,564 19,972

159,335 249,270

24.
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24. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Bank loans  amount ing  to  HK$156,771,0 00 (2008:
HK$207,099,000) are secured by the corporate guarantees
i ssued  by  the  Company  (no te  33 )  and  o f  wh ich
HK$123,771,000 (2008: HK$197,099,000) are further secured
by charges over bank deposits amounting to HK$32,297,000
(2008: HK$28,936,000) (note 21). In addition, bank loans
amounting to HK$81,421,000 (2008: HK$114,402,000) is
secured by the proceeds on certain civil engineering contracts.
Apart from the above, bank loan amounting to HK$15,000,000
(2008: Nil) is secured by personal guarantee from a director
of the Company.

(b) The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles and machinery
and these leases are classified as finance leases having
remaining lease terms ranging from five months to two years
(2008: one to three years). As at 31 March 2009, the total
future minimum lease payments under finance leases and
their present values were as follows:

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total minimum lease payments
 – Due within one year 2,399 4,885
 – Due in the second year 207 2,249
 – Due in the third to fifth years, inclusive

– 115

2,606 7,249
Less: future finance charges

on finance leases (42) (234)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 2,564 7,015

Present value of finance lease liabilities
 – Due within one year 2,363 4,688
 – Due in the second year 201 2,214
 – Due in the third to fifth years,

inclusive – 113

2,564 7,015

Less: portion due within one year included
under current liabilities (2,363) (4,688)

Non-current portion included under
non-current liabilities 201 2,327

24.

(a) 156,771,000
207,099,000

33
123,771,000
197,099,000
32,297,000 
28,936,000 21

 81,421,000
114,402,000

15,000,000

(b)
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24. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) Other information about the borrowings:

Effective interest rate per annum at year end

2009 2008
Original

currency Floating rate Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate

1.40% – 3.20% – 2.48% - 3.86% –
Bank loans HK$

– – 8.61% - 9.40% –
Bank loans RMB

– – – 1.25% – 8.40%
Other loans RMB

2.02% – 2.09% 3.25% – 4.00% 3.20% 3.25%
Finance lease liabilities HK$

In the opinion of the directors, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s current and non-current borrowings approximate their
fair values as of balance sheet date. The fair values of the
non-current borrowings are calculated by discounting their
expected future cash flow at market rate.

(d) As at 31 March 2009, the Group had available bank facilities
of HK$268,431,000 (2008: HK$273,660,000), out of which
HK$111,666,000 (2008: HK$57,960,000) was not utilised.

25. DEFERRED TAX

The movement of the deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

24.

(c)

(d)
268,431,000

273,660,000
111,660,000

57,960,000

25.

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2008/2007
3,043 3,067

29 Arising from business
combination (note 29) 514 –

Charged/(Credited) to
9 income statement (note 9) 127 (24)

At 31 March 2009/2008
3,684 3,043
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25. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The deferred tax liabilities represent the tax effects of taxable
temporary differences arising as a result of tax depreciation
allowances being in excess of the accounting depreciation.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of

Par value ordinary shares Total

Notes HK$ HK$’000

Authorised

At 31 March 2008 and
31 March 2009 (a) 0.05 2,000,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid

At 1 April 2007 0.1 320,000,000 32,000
Shares issued upon exercise of

share options 0.1 15,380,000 1,538
Issue of new shares (b) 0.1 64,000,000 6,400
Subdivision of shares (a) 399,380,000 –

0.05 798,760,000 39,938

Shares issued upon exercise of
share options 0.05 6,800,000 340

Issue of new shares (b) 0.05 128,000,000 6,400
Repurchase of shares 0.05 (2,780,000) (139)

At 31 March 2008 and
1 April 2008 0.05 930,780,000 46,539

Repurchase of shares (c) 0.05 (129,800,000) (6,490)

At 31 March 2009 0.05 800,980,000 40,049

25.

26.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to the ordinary resolution of the Company passed
on 11 June 2007, every issued and unissued ordinary share of
HK$0.1 each of the Company was subdivided into two ordinary
shares of HK$0.05 each (the “Shares Subdivision”). The
Shares Subdivision became effective on 12 June 2007. As a
result of the Shares Subdivision, the authorised share capital
of the Company has become HK$100,000,000 divided into
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each and the
issued share capital immediately prior to the Shares
Subdivision of HK$39,938,000 divided into 399,380,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each has become HK$39,938,000
divided into 798,760,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each.

(b) On 13 April 2007, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with China Water Affairs Group Limited (“China

Water”) and Oceanup Investments Limited (“Oceanup”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Water, under which China
Water has agreed to subscribe, through Oceanup, and the
Company has agreed to issue 64,000,000 ordinary shares (or
128,000,000 ordinary shares to adjust for the effect of the
Shares Subdivision) of the Company at the subscription price
of HK$0.80 per share (or HK$0.40 per share to adjust for the
effect of the Shares Subdivision). The subscription was
completed in June 2007.

On 15 June 2007, the Company entered into a placement
agreement (the “Placement Agreement”) with Robinhoods
Development Limited (“Robinhoods”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and a placing agent. Pursuant
to the Placement Agreement, the placing agent has agreed
to procure for the sale of up to 128,000,000 ordinary shares
held by Robinhoods to independent third parties at HK$1.53
per share (after the effect of the Shares Subdivision). On the
same day, the Company entered into a subscription agreement
with Robinhoods, pursuant to which Robinhoods has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for the equivalent number
of ordinary shares that are actually sold by the placing agent
at HK$1.53 per share. On 21 June 2007, 128,000,000 ordinary
shares were placed to the placing agent and on 29 June 2007,
the same number of ordinary shares was issued and
subscribed by Robinhoods.

The net proceeds generated from the above-mentioned
subscription and placing amounted to approximately
HK$237,488,000.

26.

(a)

0.1
0.05

100,000,000  2,000,000,000
0.05

39,938,000 399,380,000
0 . 1

39,938,000 798,760,000
0.05

(b)

Oceanup
Investments Limited Oceanup
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6 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0
128,000,000

0.80
0.40

Robinhoods
Development Limited Robinhoods

1.53

128,000,000 Robinhoods
Robinhoods
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1.53

128,000,000
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) During the year, the Company repurchased its own ordinary
shares and the details are so as follows:

Number of Price paid per share *

Method of shares Aggregate

Month/Year purchase repurchased Highest Lowest price paid*

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

April 2008 On the Stock Exchange 1,800,000 0.48 0.44 840

(i)
December 2008 Off-market (note (i)) 128,000,000 0.42 0.42 53,868

129,800,000 54,708

* Including direct expenses

Notes:

(i) The Company made an off-market repurchases by
entering into an agreement with China Water on 18
September 2008 to repurchase from China Water
128,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company (the
“128M Shares Repurchase”) at the repurchase price
of HK$0.42 per share, giv ing r ise to the total
consideration  of HK$53,760,000. Those shares were
subscribed by Oceanup in June 2007 as mentioned in
note (b) above.

The consideration for the 128M Shares Repurchase was
offset against the consideration for another transaction
to the disposal of certain subsidiaries of the Group as
mentioned in note 30.

(ii) As a result of the share repurchases, an amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares repurchased
of HK$6,490,000 was transferred from retained profits
to the capital redemption reserve.

26.

(c)

*

(i)

0.42
128,000,000

128,000,000

53,760,000
(b) Oceanup

128,000,000

30

(ii)
6,490,000
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) pursuant to a written resolution of all the then
shareholders passed on 25 February 2006. The purpose of
the Scheme is to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions that the eligible participants have made or may
make to the business development of the Group. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include (i) the Company’s
executive, non-executive or independent non-executive
directors or a director of an entity in which the Group holds
an interest (the “Affiliate”); (ii) other employee or officer of
the Group or any Affiliate; (iii) customer, supplier, agent,
partner, consultant, adviser or shareholder of or contractor
to the Group or any Affiliate; (iv) the trustee of any trust the
beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include persons under (i), (ii)
and (iii); and (v) a company beneficially owned by any persons
under (i), (ii) and (iii).

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as
follows:

(1) Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay
HK$1 to the Company as consideration for the grant.

(2) The subscription price in respect of each share under
the Scheme shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares; (ii) the closing
price of each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of offer to the eligible
participant, which must be a day on which licensed
banks are open for business in Hong Kong and the Stock
Exchange is open for business for dealing in securities
(“Trading Day”); and (iii) the average closing price of
each share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five consecutive Trading Days
immediately preceding the date of offer to the eligible
participant.

(3) An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during the period
which shall not be more than 10 years from the business
day on which the option is deemed to have been
granted. There is no minimum period for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised.

27.

(i)

(ii) 
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(iv) 
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

(4) An option will lapse on expiry of the exercise period of
the option, on cessation of employment, or on
cessation to be customer, supplier, agent, partner,
consultant, adviser or shareholder of or contractor to
the Group or any Affiliate.

(5) The maximum number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Scheme and any other scheme of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange.
The Scheme mandate limit may be refreshed by the
shareholders in general meeting from time to time
provided always that the Scheme mandate limit so
refreshed must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of approval of such
refreshment by the shareholders in general meeting.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme,
the maximum number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and
any other scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of shares
in issue from time to time. Unless approved by the
shareholders, the maximum number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to any eligible participants (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time.

(6) The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the date of adoption of the
Scheme, i.e. 25 February 2006.

(7) Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Terms and conditions of the share options

granted

Details of the share options granted to certain directors of
the Company and certain employees, sub-contractors,
consultants and suppliers of the Group are as follows:

Company’s

share price Company’s

Number of immediately share price

options Exercisable Exercise before grant on grant

Options grant date granted period price date date

HK$ HK$ HK$

26 March 2007 38,400,000 note (b) 0.445 0.415 0.445
(a) (note (a)) (b)

4 April 2007 22,300,000 note (b) 0.600 0.585 0.600
(a) (note (a)) (b)

17 April 2007 2,400,000 note (b) 0.975 0.920 0.975
(a) (note (a)) (b)

17 May 2007 900,000 note (b) 1.420 1.425 1.420
(a) (note (a)) (b)

5 October 2007 12,550,000 note (c) 0.812 0.780 0.780
(c)

18 February 2009 64,000,000 note (d) 0.148 0.150 0.148
(d)

140,550,000

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Terms and conditions of the share options

granted (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The number of share options granted on 26 March 2007, 4
April 2007, 17 April 2007 and 17 May 2007 was 19,200,000,
11,150,000, 1,200,000 and 450,000 respectively. As a result
of the Shares Subdivision as explained in note 26(a), the
numbers of share options have been adjusted to become
38,400,000, 22,300,000, 2,400,000 and 900,000 respectively.
The respective exercise price and the share price of the
Company disclosed herewith have been adjusted for the effect
of Shares Subdivision.

(b) These share options vest on the date of grant and are
exercisable from the date of acceptance of the options up to
31 May 2009.

(c) Among the share options granted on 5 October 2007,
7,900,000 options vest on the date of grant and are exercisable
from the date of acceptance of the options up to 31 October
2009, 2,325,000 options vest after 6 calendar months from
the grant date and will expire on 4 April 2009, and the
remaining 2,325,000 options vest after 12 calendar months
from the grant date and will expire on 4 October 2009.

(d) Share options granted on 18 February 2008 vest on the date
of grant and are exercisable from the date of acceptance of
the options up to 29 February 2012.

27.

(a)

19,200,000
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Movements of the share options and their
weighted average exercise price

The movements of the share options during the financial year
are as follows:

2009

Number of share options

Options grant At 1 April At 31 March

Grantees date 2008 Granted Exercised Forfeited 2009

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

1,200 – – – 1,200
Directors 17 April 2007

– 8,000 – – 8,000
18 February 2009

1,200 8,000 – – 9,200

1,700 – – – 1,700
Employees 4 April 2007

300 – – (300) –
17 April 2007

440 – – (40) 400
17 May 2007

3,800 – – (1,750) 2,050
5 October 2007

– 8,000 – – 8,000
18 February 2009

6,240 8,000 – (2,090) 12,150

9,000 – – – 9,000
Suppliers of 26 March 2007

services or 13,400 – – – 13,400
goods 4 April 2007

8,750 – – (250) 8,500
5 October 2007

– 48,000 – – 48,000
18 February 2009

31,150 48,000 – (250) 78,900

38,590 64,000 – (2,340) 100,250

Total

0.657 0.148 – 0.843 0.328

Weighted average exercise

price (HK$ per share)

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Movements of the share options and their

weighted average exercise price (Continued)

2008

Number of share options

Options grant At 1 April At 31 March
Grantees date 2007 Granted Exercised Forfeited 2008

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 ’000

Directors – 1,400 – (200) 1,200
17 April 2007

– 3,100 (1,400) – 1,700
Employees 4 April 2007

– 1,000 (700) – 300
17 April 2007

– 900 (260) (200) 440
17 May 2007

– 3,800 – – 3,800
5 October 2007

– 8,800 (2,360) (200) 6,240

38,400 – (29,400) – 9,000
Suppliers of 26 March 2007

services or – 19,200 (5,800) – 13,400
goods 4 April 2007

– 8,750 – – 8,750
5 October 2007

38,400 27,950 (35,200) – 31,150

Total 38,400 38,150 (37,560) (400) 38,590

0.445 0.713 0.491 1.198 0.657
Weighted average exercise

price (HK$ per share)

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Movements of the share options and their

weighted average exercise price (Continued)

The exercise prices of the outstanding share options as at
31 March 2009 range from HK$0.148 to HK$1.420 per share
(2008: HK$0.445 to HK$1.420 per share) and their weighted
average remaining contractual life as at 31 March 2009 is
1.97 years (2008: 1.30 years).

Fair value of the share options granted during

the financial year

The weighted average fair value of the share options granted
during the year is HK$0.046 (2008: HK$0.151) per share. The
fair value of the share options granted to the directors,
employees and sub-contractors was determined based on
the fair value of the equity instruments measured on the
date of grant. Share options granted to the sub-contractors
are an incentive to them for their continuing contribution to
the Group and it is impractical to determine the fair value of
such incentive. The fair value of the share options granted to
the consultants and suppliers was determined based on the
market price of the services provided.

The fair value of the share options granted during the financial
year is determined by an independent valuer using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model (the “Model”). Details of the
inputs to the Model are as follows:

Share price (HK$ per share) 0.148
Exercise price (HK$ per share) 0.148

% Expected volatility (%) 96.06%
% Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.26%
% Dividend yield (%) 5.41%

Expected life of option (years) 1.0

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Fair value of the share options granted during

the financial year (Continued)

Expected volatility is determined by reference to the weekly
share price movement of the Company for the period from
2 June 2008 to 2 June 2009.

Risk-free interests rate represents the yields to maturity of
Hong Kong Exchange Fund Note with respective terms to
maturity as at the valuation date.

The expected life of option is determined based on
management’s best estimates for the effects of non-
transferability of the options, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

Financial effect of the share options

The amount of share-based compensation arising from
granting the share options during the year was HK$2,929,000
(2008: HK$5,348,000). The share-based compensation in
respect of the share options granted to the sub-contractors
and suppl iers amount ing to HK$1,098,000 (2008:
HK$2,203,000) was recognised as cost of revenue while the
share-based compensation in respect of the share options
granted to the directors and employees amounting to
HK$733,000 (2008: HK$1,709,000) and consultants
amounting to HK$1,098,000 (2008: HK$1,436,000) was
recognised as administrative expenses. The corresponding
amount of HK$2,929,000 (2008: HK$5,348,000) has been
credited to the share option reserve. No liabilities were
recognised as those are equity-settled share-based payment
transactions.

In addition, shares-based compensations amounting to
HK$198,000 is recognised during the year in respect of
certain share options granted on 5 October 2007 which
become vested during the year. The amount of share-based
compensation arising from the share options granted to
employees is HK$153,000 whereas those arising from the
share options granted to consultants is HK$45,000. The entire
amount of share-based compensation is recognised as
administrative expenses. The corresponding amount of
HK$198,000 is credited to the share option reserve.

27.
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27. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Financial effect of the share options (Continued)

During the current financial year, 2,340,000 share options
which were granted to consultants and employees were
forfeited and the corresponding share option expense of
HK$343,000 was transferred from share option reserve to
retained profits. During last financial year, 400,000 share
options which were granted to directors and employees were
forfeited and the corresponding share option expense of
HK$88,000 was transferred from share option reserve to
retained profits.

The number of outstanding share options which are
exercisable as at 31 March 2009 was 100,250,000 (2008:
33,940,000) which represent approximately 12.5% (2008:
3.6%) of the Company’s shares in issue on that date. The
exercise in full of these share options would result in the
issue of 100,250,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company including additional share capital of HK$5,013,000
and share premium of HK$27,829,000.

28. RESERVES

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Share premium (note (a)) 207,178 255,396
(b) Merger reserve (note (b)) 13,805 13,805

(d) Share option reserve (note (d)) 7,809 5,025
(e) Capital redemption reserve (note (e)) 6,629 139

(f) Translation reserve (note (f)) 517 2,893
Retained profits 106,893 106,609

342,831 383,867

27.
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28. RESERVES (Continued)

The Company

Share Capital

Share Contributed option redemption Retained

premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(a) (c) (d) (e)

(note (a)) (note (c)) (note (d)) (note (e))

At 1 April 2007 12,010 76,249 3,282 – 181 91,722
Profit for the year – – – – 9,010 9,010
Adjustment for 2007 final

dividend – – – – (22) (22)
Share options granted – – 5,348 – – 5,348
Share options forfeited – – (88) – 38 (50)
Share issued upon exercise of

share options 20,094 – (3,517) – – 16,577
Issue of new shares 234,240 – – – – 234,240
Share issue expenses (9,552) – – – – (9,552)
Repurchase of shares (1,396) – – 139 (139) (1,396)
Proposed final dividend – – – – (7,432) (7,432)

At 31 March 2008 and
1 April 2008 255,396 76,249 5,025 139 1,636 338,445

Profit for the year – – – – 9,702 9,702
Share-based compensation

27 (note 27):
Share options granted in

previous years – – 198 – – 198
Share options granted in

current years – – 2,929 – – 2,929
27 Share options forfeited

(note 27) – – (343) – 31 (312)
26(c) Repurchase of shares

(note 26(c)) (48,218) – – 6,490 (6,490) (48,218)

At 31 March 2009 207,178 76,249 7,809 6,629 4,879 302,744

28.
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28. RESERVES (Continued)

The Company (Continued)

Note:

(a) Under the Companies Law Cap. 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the funds in
the share premium account of the Company are distributable to
the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(b) The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the aggregate share capital of
subsidiaries acquired over the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company issued in exchange pursuant to the
reorganisation of the Group taken place before the listing of
Company on the Stock Exchange.

(c) Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the costs of investment in subsidiaries acquired over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company in
exchange pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group taken
place before the listing of Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange.

(d) Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted as further explained in the accounting policy adopted
for share-based compensation in note 3.15.

(e) Capital redemption reserve represents the transfer from
retained profits of the amount equivalent to the par value of
the shares repurchased.

(f) Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted in note 3.11.

29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisition of 

On 29 April 2008, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) with an
independent third party (the “Vendor”) under which the
Group agreed to buy and the Vendor agreed to sell 83.33%
equity interest in a PRC entity, 

(previously known as  
, at the consideration of RMB500,000 (equivalent

to approximately HK$570,000) which was satisfied by way
of cash (the “Qingxin Acquisition”).  is principally
engaged in provision of water supply services in certain areas
of Qingxin County, Qingyuan City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC. Further details about the Qingxin Acquisition were set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 14 May 2008.

28.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of 

(Continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
 at the date of Qingxin Acquisition and the corresponding

carrying amounts immediately before the Qingxin Acquisition
are as follows:

On the date of the Qingxin Acquisition

Fair value

Carrying amount adjustments Fair value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 7,740 2,018 9,758
Prepaid land lease payments 108 40 148
Other receivables 5 – 5
Bank balances and cash 19 – 19
Other payables (7,347) – (7,347)
Tax payables (109) – (109)

25 Deferred tax liabilities (note 25) – (514) (514)

Total assets and liabilities 416 1,544 1,960

83.33% Fair value of identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired - 83.33% 1,632

Excess over the cost of business
5 combination (note 5) (945)

# Total cost of investment# 687

The total cost of investment
is satisfied by:
Cash 687

Net cash outflow
arising on the Qingxin Acquisition:

Cost of investment 687
Bank balances and cash acquired (19)

668

29.

# including incidental costs for the Qingxin Acquisition#
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of 

(Continued)

The excess of the Group’s interests in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of over the cost of
investment is attributable to the fact that has been
operating at net loss in recent years and it is expected that 

 will continue to make loss in the coming year. However
with the repaid expansion of the industrial sector in Qingyuan
City and thus expected growth in demand of water supply in
the region, management is of the opinion that will
become profit making in foreseeable future.

Revenue and net loss generated by after the
Qingxin Acquisit ion amounted to HK$418,000 and
HK$267,000 respectively. Had the Qingxin Acquisition been
taken place on 1 April 2008, the revenue and net profit of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 would have
been HK$661,401,000 and HK$5,956,000 respectively. These
pro forma information are for illustrative purposes only and
are not necessarily an indication of revenue and result of
operation of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the Qingxin Acquisition been completed on
1 April 2008, nor are they intended to be a projection of future
results.

Acquisition of the assets of 

On 31 August 2007, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “Main Agreement”) with the local government authority
of Ningxiang County, Changsha City, Hunan Province, the
PRC (the “Ningxiang Government”) (the Company and the
Ningxiang Government are collectively referred to as the
“Parties”). Pursuant to the Main Agreement, the Company
agreed to acquire the total assets (the “Assets”) of 

 (Hunan Province Ningxiang County Water
Supply Company) (“Ningxiang Water”) at a total cash
cons idera t ion  o f  RMB90,080 ,00 0  (equ iva lent  to
approx imate ly  HK$99,983 ,00 0 )  ( the  “Ningxiang

Acquisition”). Ningxiang Water is a state-owned enterprise
established in the PRC and it is an exclusive water supply
service provider in certain areas of Ningxiang County. Further
details about the Ningxiang Acquisition were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 27 September 2007.

29.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of the assets of 

 (Continued)

The Ningxiang Acquisition was conditional upon the signing
of further agreements by the Parties or parties designated
by Parties regarding the transfer of the Assets from Ningxiang
Water to the Group and granting concession to the Group
for the provision of water supply services in certain areas of
Ningx iang County  for  30 years  ( the “Addit ional

Agreements”). The Additional Agreements were signed and
subsequently the Ningxiang Acquisition was completed on
31 December 2007.

Pursuant to the Main Agreement, the consideration could
be settled by way of assuming the liabilities of Ningxiang
Water. In addition, the results of Ningxiang Water arising from
normal operation from 1 April 2007 until the date of Ningxiang
Acquisition were taken up by the Group. Taking into account
the legal and professional fees incidental to the Ningxiang
Acquisition, the total cost of investment for the Ningxiang
Acquisition was HK$105,914,000.

29.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of the assets of 

 (Continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Ningxiang Water as at the date of Ningxiang Acquisition and
the corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the
Ningxiang Acquisition are as follows:

On the date of the Ningxiang Acquisition

Fair value

Carrying amount adjustments Fair value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 68,986 4,855 73,841
Prepaid land lease payments 10,779 11,020 21,799
Inventories 598 – 598
Trade and other receivables 9,229 – 9,229
Cash and cash equivalents 3,130 – 3,130

Assets acquired 92,722 15,875 108,597

Excess over the cost of business
5 combination (note 5) (2,683)

Total cost of investment 105,914

The total cost of investment
is satisfied by:

Cash 33,207
Assuming the liabilities of

Ningxiang Water 72,707

105,914

Net cash outflow arising on the
Ningxiang Acquisition:
Cash consideration 33,207
Bank balances and cash acquired (3,130)
Exchange differences (1,036)

29,041

29.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

Acquisition of the assets of 

 (Continued)

Revenue and net profit generated from the water supply
business after the Ningxiang Acquisition amounted to
HK$7,767,000 and HK$164,000 respectively. Had the
Ningxiang Acquisition been taken place on 1 April 2007, the
revenue and net profit of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2008 would have been HK$675,965,000 and
HK$19,185,000 respectively. These pro forma information are
for illustrative purposes only and are not necessarily an
indication of revenue and result of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the Ningxiang
Acquisition been completed on 1 April 2007, nor are they
intended to be a projection of future results.

30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 18 September 2008, the Group entered into an agreement
with China Water for the disposal of entire issued capital of
its indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, Ming Hing Waterworks
Engineering (PRC) Limited (“MH PRC”), and to assign to
China Water all obligations, liabilities and debts owing or
incurred by MH PRC to the Group on the completion date of
the disposal (the “Disposal”).

MH PRC has 100% equity interests in Ming Hing Waterworks
(Changsha) Company Limited (“MH Changsha”) which is
principally engaged in the provision of water supply services
in Ningxiang County. The major operating assets of MH
Changsha were acquired by the Company in last financial
year from Ningxiang Water pursuant to Main Agreement
signed on 31 August 2007 as mentioned in note 29.

29.
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The net assets of MH PRC and MH Changsha at the date of
the Disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment 80,244
Prepaid land lease payments 22,656
Inventories 431
Trade and other receivables,

prepayment and deposits 11,307
Bank balances and cash 4,201
Amounts due to group companies (43,175)
Trade and other payables (33,995)
Borrowings (31,357)
Tax payables (897)

9,415

Debts assigned to China Water 43,175
Release of translation reserve (3,646)

48,944

Incidental costs incurred for the Disposal 1,400

50,344

5 Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 5) 3,416

Total consideration 53,760

Net cash outflow arising from the Disposal:

Bank balances and cash disposed of (4,201)
Incidental cost incurred for the Disposal (1,400)

(5,601)

30.
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The considerat ion for the Disposal was agreed at
HK$53,760,000 which was determined by reference to the then
fair value of the assets and liabilities of MH PRC and MH
Changsha. The consideration for the Disposal was entirely offset
against the consideration for the another transaction of 128M
Shares Repurchase as mentioned in note 26(c)(i). Further details
about the Disposal and the 128M Shares Repurchase were set
out in the circular of the Company dated 3 November 2008.

31. COMMITMENTS

The Group

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the Group had the following significant commitments as at
31 March 2009:

The future aggregate minimum lease rental payable under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and
buildings was as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,523 1,289
In the second to fifth years,

inclusive 1,450 2,091

2,973 3,380

The Group leases certain properties under operating leases.
The leases run for an initial period of two to three years,
with an option to renew the leases and renegotiate the terms
at the expiry date. The leases do not include any contingent
rentals.

The Company

The Company did not have any significant commitments as
at 31 March 2009 and 2008.

30.
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND
LITIGATIONS

As at 31 March 2009, a number of lawsuits and claims arising
from the normal course of business were lodged against the
Group which remain outstanding as at the date of these
financial statements. Claim amounts are not specified in the
applications of these lawsuits and claims. In the opinion of
the Directors, sufficient insurance policies are maintained
to cover the losses, if any, arising from these lawsuits and
claims and therefore the ultimate liability under these
lawsuits and claims would not have a material adverse impact
on the financial position of the Group.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2007, the Group
received from a sub-contractor two claims in respect of two
completed projects with claim amount of approximately HK$7
million in aggregate. During the current financial year, the
Group received correspondence from the solicitors of the
sub-contractor to increase the amount of claims to
approximately HK$9 million in aggregate. Based on the advice
from the legal advisers of the Group, the Directors believe
that the Group has a good case not only to defend but also
to counterclaim the overpaid amount. Accordingly, the
Directors consider that the claims will unlikely result in any
material financial impact on the Group.

32.
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33. GUARANTEES

As at the balance sheet date, the Company had issued the
following significant financial guarantees:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Guarantees in respect of:

Credit facilities granted by banks
to certain subsidiaries 156,771 207,099

Performance bonds issued by banks
to a subsidiary’s customer 13,000 13,000

Finance lease arrangements entered into
by certain subsidiaries 2,064 6,482

171,835 226,581

The Company, together with certain of its subsidiaries, issued
cross guarantees to bankers as part of the security for credit
facilities granted to the subsidiaries.

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial impact arising
from providing the above financial guarantees is immaterial
and accordingly, they are not accounted for in these financial
statements.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by Robinhoods, a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in the British Virgin
Islands. Robinhoods is held as to one-third by each of Able
Promise Holdings Limited, Group Honour Assets Limited and
Foremost Time Holdings Limited, limited liability companies
incorporated and domiciled in the British Virgin Islands.

33.

34.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(i) Transactions with a related company

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental expenses for office premises
paid to Grand Media Limited (Note) 984 984

Note:

The directors of the Company, Mr. Yuen Chow Ming, Mr. Yuen
Wai Keung and Mr. So Yiu Cheung, have equity interests of
34%, 33% and 33% respectively in Grand Media Limted.

(ii) Key management personnel

Included in staff costs are key management personnel
compensat ion which comprises the fol lowing
categories:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind 6,490 7,031

Equity-settled share-based
compensation 848 1,247

Post-employment benefits 93 101

7,431 8,379

34.
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35. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital and to support the
Group’s stability and growth.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio, i.e. net debt to equity. Net debt includes
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or issue
new shares. The gearing ratios of the Group as at 31 March
2009 and 2008 were as follows:

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Debt 159,335 249,270
Less: cash and cash equivalents

and pledged deposits (96,054) (201,820)

Net debt 63,281 47,450

Capital represented by total equity 383,182 437,838

Gearing ratio 16.5% 10.8%

The Group targets to maintain gearing ratio at a healthy level
as have achieved in the current and last financial years, which
is in line with the expected changes in economics and
financial conditions.

35.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Loan and receivables (including cash at
bank and pledged bank deposits)

161,276 235,441

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost 223,208 328,047

The Company

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Loan and receivables (including cash at
bank and pledged bank deposits)

214,856 314,785

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost 7,533 2,837

36.

(a)



Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2009 133

Notes to the Financial Statements

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial results by financial instruments

The Group

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Income, expense, gains or losses
on financial instruments:

Interest income or (expenses) on:

Loans and receivables 871 3,854
Financial liabilities at

amortised cost (6,566) (6,511)

(c) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks which comprise market risk (mainly interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall
risk management focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by key management
under the policies approved by the board of directors.
The Group does not have written risk management
po l ic ies .  However,  the Di rectors  and sen ior
management of the Group meet regularly to identify
and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to
manage financial risks.

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management

Market risk – interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rate. The Group’s
income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from bank
borrowings. Majority of the bank borrowings are
arranged at variable rates which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rate and
repayment terms of the bank borrowings outstanding
at year end are disclosed in note 24.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The following sensitivity demonstrates the Group’s
exposure to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates on its floating rate bank borrowings with all other
variables held constant at the balance sheet date (in
practice, the actual trading results may differ from the
sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material):

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (Continued)

Market risk – interest rate risk (Continued)

Increase/(Decrease) in

profit after tax and equity

2009 2008

HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase/Decrease in basis points
(“bp”)

+ 100 + 100 bp (1,325) (1,929)
– 50 – 50 bp 663 963

The changes in interests rates do not affect the Group’s
other components of equity.

The above sensitivity analysis is prepared based on the
assumption that the borrowings as at 31 March 2009
and 2008 existed throughout the whole respective
financial year.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets (note 36(a)) as stated
in the consolidated and the Company’s balance sheets
and the amount of guarantees issued by the Company
as disclosed in note 33.

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by rigorously
selecting the counterparties. Credit risk on cash and
cash equivalents (note 22) is mitigated as cash is
deposited in banks of high credit rating. Customers of
engineer ing contract ing bus iness are main ly
government departments/organisation and reputable
corporations and thus credit risk is considered low.
Credit risk on other loans and receivables is minimised
as the Group performs ongoing credit evaluation on the
financial condition of its debtors and tightly monitors
the ageing of the receivable balances. Follow up action
is taken in case of overdue balances. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of the
receivables individually or collectively at each balance
sheet date to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies
have been followed by the Group since prior years and
are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not
be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitors its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants in order to maintain sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long term. The
liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since
prior years and are considered to have been effective
in managing liquidity risk.

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
l iabi l i t ies at the balance sheet date which are
determined based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group and the Company
may be required to pay:

1

1 2 2 5

Within Between Between 5

1 year or 1 and 2 and Over

The Group on demand 2 years  5 years 5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2009

Borrowings 144,134 15,201 – –
Interest payments on

borrowings (note) 577 77 – –
Trade payables 51,194 – – –
Retention payables 1,805 – – –
Other payables

and accruals 10,874 – – –

208,584 15,278 – –

As at 31 March 2008

Borrowings 209,803 23,336 13,199 2,932
Interest payments on

borrowings (note) 4,379 1,437 1,035 144
Trade payables 37,987 – – –
Retention payables 33 – – –
Other payables and

accruals 27,033 769 2,306 10,649

279,235 25,542 16,540 13,725

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

1

1 2 2 5

Within Between Between 5

1 year or 1 and 2 and Over

The Company on demand 2 years  5 years 5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2009

Other payables and
accruals 872 – – –

Amounts due to
subsidiaries 6,661 – – –

7,533 – – –

As at 31 March 2008

Other payables and
accruals 666 – – –

Amounts due to
subsidiaries 2,171 – – –

2,837 – – –

Note:

The interest on borrowings is calculated based on the amount
of borrowings outstanding as at 31 March 2009 and 2008 at
the respective interest rates.

36.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Financial risk management (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The directors are of opinion that, at the balance sheet
date, it is not probable for the counterparties to the
financial guarantee contracts to claim the Group for any
loses covered by the guarantee contracts. Therefore,
the maturity analysis does not include any amount that
the Group may have to pay under the guarantee
contracts granted.

The contractual financial guarantee are disclosed in note
33.

(e) Fair value estimation

The carrying values of trade receivable net of
impairment provision and payables are reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair values of
interest bearing loans is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

36.
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For the year ended 31 March

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 207,196 263,768 519,944 648,475 660,870

Profit for the year 35,651 38,619 34,316 24,885 6,391

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is shown below. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 113,010 210,206 356,948 773,315 612,615

Total liabilities (60,953) (75,532) (196,196) (335,477) (229,433)

Total equity 52,057 134,674 160,752 437,838 383,182

Note:

The summary of the operating results, assets and liabilities of the Group
as at and for the financial years ended 31 March 2005 was prepared as if
the current group structure had been in existence throughout the financial
year.
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